Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde Instituto de Pesquisa em Oncologia

Dinâmica da influência da imunoterapia de células dendríticas no infiltrado tumoral e em linfonodos de camundongos fêmeas de linhagem Balb/C tumor induzidos por linhagem de células 4T1

Saulo Fernando Moreira da Silva

Uberaba 2021 Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde Instituto de Pesquisa em Oncologia

Dinâmica da influência da imunoterapia de células dendríticas no infiltrado tumoral e em linfonodos de camundongos fêmeas de linhagem Balb/C tumor induzidos por linhagem de células 4T1

Saulo Fernando Moreira da Silva

Tese de doutorado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde da Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro, como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Doutor em Ciências da Saúde, área de concentração Imunologia Básica e Aplicada.

Orientação: Profa. Dra. Márcia Antoniazi Michelin Coorientação: Prof. Dr. Eddie Fernando Cândido Murta

> Uberaba 2021

Catalogação na fonte: Biblioteca da Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro



Amanda Franzão R. Silva CRB-6/3461

BANCA EXAMINADORA

Professora Dra. Márcia Antoniazi Michelin
Instituição: Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro - UFTM
Professor Dr. Edigar Henrique Vaz Dias
Instituição: Universidade do Estado de Minas Gerais

3. Professor Doutor Carlos Antônio Couto Lima

Instituição: Universidade do Oeste Paulista – UNOESTE

4. Professor Doutor Renata Margarida Etchebehere

Instituição: Universidade Federal Do Triângulo Mineiro – UFTM

5. Professor Doutor Marcos de Lucca Moreira Gomes

Instituição: Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro - UFTM

Saulo Fernando Moreira da Silva

Dinâmica da influência da imunoterapia de células dendríticas no infiltrado tumoral e em linfonodos de camundongos fêmeas de linhagem Balb/C tumor induzidos por linhagem de células 4T1

Tese de doutorado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ciências da Saúde da Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro, como parte dos requisitos para obtenção do título de Doutor em Ciências da Saúde, área de concentração Imunologia Básica e Aplicada.

Uberaba, agosto de 2021.

Banca de defesa

Uberaba 2021

Dedicatória

Dedico este trabalho a todos com talento e inteligência para se tornarem ótimos pesquisadores e profissionais e que por motivos alheios a sua vontade não conseguiram. Aos meus pais e minha família.

''Depois de escalar uma grande montanha se descobre que existem muitas outras montanhas para escalar''

Nelson Mandela. Da autobiografia "O longo caminho para a liberdade", 1994

Agradecimentos

A Deus por ter me dado saúde e determinação para prosseguir neste caminho que para alguns por algum momento pareceu loucura.

Aos meus orientadores Dra. Márcia Antoniazi Michelin e Dr. Eddie Fernando Cândido Murta pela paciência de sempre e por apresentarem para um recém formado que nada sabia sobre pesquisa este caminho lindo.

Aos meu pais João Francisco Moreira da Silva e Sonia Maria da Luz Silva por terem me dado a vida, me criado priorizando a educação, por exigirem boas notas e por todo amor. Aos meus avos, os presentes e àqueles que não estão mais aqui. Obrigado por sonharem! Ao meu irmão Lucas Fernando, e aos primos por tudo que vivenciamos juntos. Algumas daquelas experiências eu repeti no laboratório!

Aos amigos de jornada durante este tempo dentro da UFTM, Dr. Tharsus Dias Takeuti, Dr. André Adriano, Dr. Eduardo Arthur, Dra. Polyana Barbosa, Dra. Angela Moed, Dra. Alessandra Cunha, Kezia Aguiar, Eleni Solange, Ingrid Marques, Lenilson, Taissa. Aos amigos de jornada profissional no Hospital Nossa Senhora da Abadia em Ituiutaba – MG. Eduardo Carvalho, Annelise Amaral, Dr. Edigar Henrique, Bruna Lacerda e Cláudia Novais.

A todos o meu muito obrigado!

RESUMO

INTRODUÇÃO: As células dendríticas são uma das pontes entre as respostas imunológicas inata e adaptativa e ainda contribuírem no desenvolvimento de uma resposta especializada para cada tipo de tumor. No comeco dos anos 2000 alguns pesquisadores levantaram a hipótese de as células dendríticas serem usadas no tratamento de alguns tipos de canceres como imunoterapia. Muitos resultados positivos foram alcançados desde então e a imunoterapia com células dendríticas contra o câncer foi estabelecida como uma imunoterapia tão eficiente quanto eficaz. OBJETIVOS: Para melhor entendermos a dinâmica que envolve os mecanismos pelos quais a imunoterapia com células dendríticas influência na resposta imunológica avaliamos linfonodos e tumores de camundongos induzidos a desenvolver tumor tratados com imunoterapia de células dendriticas. METODOLOGIA: foram utilizados 70 camundongos isogênicos da linhagem Balb/c e para indução tumoral 5×10^5 de células de carcinoma mamário de camundongos Balb/c 4T1 foram injetado por animal. Estes animais foram utilizados para avaliarmos de maneira dinâmica a influência da imunoterapia no sistema imunológico dividimos estes animais em grupos 7 e 14 dias após a primeira dose da imunoterapia com células dendríticas. Ao final ficamos com 7 grupos experimentais: GI – grupo controle, GII – grupo controle CD 7 dias, GIII – grupo tumor 7 dias, GIV – grupo tumor CD 7 dias, GV – grupo controle CD 14 dias, GVI – grupo tumor 14 dias, GVII – grupo tumor CD 14 dias. RESULTADOS: Durante o período experimental o volume do tumor foi medido periodicamente e notamos que o desenvolvimento tumoral foi menor no grupo tumor CD (0,0003988mm³ - 0,2670mm³) quando comparado ao grupo tumor (0,03703mm³ - 0,2670mm³). Notamos ainda através do qPCR que a expressão do fatore de transcrição T-bet de perfil de células Th1, aquele que induz o combate ao tumor de maneira eficaz é maior no grupo tumor CD em 14 dias (1,83) quando comparado ai grupo tumor (1,08). Já o fator de transcrição de células Treg, FOXP3, é maior no grupo tumor tanto em 7 (3,85) quanto em 14 (20,73) dias quando comparado ao grupo tumor tratado em 7 (2,32) e 14 (2,16) dias; mostrando um cenário de difícil reversão. Através de imunofluorescência encontramos maior intensidade média de fluorescência de MHCI e moléculas coestimulatorias nos linfonodos do grupo tumor CD em 14 dias quando comparado ao grupo tumor. Observamos também que moléculas de adesão podem frente a estímulos diferentes durante a imunoterapia, notamos que ICAM1 tinha maior MFI nos linfonodos do grupo tumor tanto em 7 (79.32) quanto em 14 (147,3) dias quanto comparados ao grupo tratado 7 (39,59) e 14 (81,49) dias, já ICAM2 teve maior MFI nos linfonodos do grupo tumor CD em 14 (66,52) dias quando comparado ao grupo tumor 14 dias (56,4). CONCLUSÃO: Concluímos que a imunoterapia de células dendríticas no combate ao câncer, já comprovadamente eficaz, inicia o processo de modulação do sistema imunológico em 7 dias, porém com 14 dias a modulação é se torna mais eficaz. Para melhor entendimento deste mecanismo e melhoramento dos protocolos de vacinação mais estudos que analisem de forma dinâmica a resposta imunológica frente ao câncer deve ser realizados e outras moléculas devem ser analisadas.

Palavras-chave: Células dendríticas, câncer, imunoterapia, células 4T1, ICAM1, ICAM2, fator de transcrição

ABSTRACT

INTRODUCTION: Dendritic cells are one of the bridges between innate and adaptive immune responses and also contribute to the development of a specialized response for each type of tumor. In the early 2000s, some researchers hypothesized that dendritic cells could be used as immunotherapies in the treatment of some types of cancer. Promising results have been achieved since then and immunotherapy with dendritic cells against cancer has been established as an immunotherapy as efficient as it is effective. **OBJECTIVES:** To better understand the dynamics surrounding the mechanisms by which immunotherapy with dendritic cells influences the immune response, we evaluate lymph nodes and tumors of mice induced to develop tumors treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy. METHODOLOGY: 70 isogenic mice of the Balb/c lineage were used and for tumor induction 5×10^5 of mammary carcinoma cells of Balb/c mice were (4T1) injected per animal. These animals were used to dynamically assess the influence of immunotherapy on the immune system. We divided these animals into groups 7 and 14 days after the first dose of immunotherapy with dendritic cells. Then we have 7 experimental groups: GI - control group, GII - control group CD 7 days, GIII - tumor group 7 days, GIV - tumor group CD 7 days, GV - control group CD 14 days, GVI tumor group 14 days, GVII - CD tumor group 14 days. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION: During the experimental period, the tumor volume was measured periodically and we noticed that the tumor development was lower in the CD tumor group (0.0003988mm3 -0.2670mm3) when compared to the tumor group (0.03703mm3 - 0.2670mm3). We also noticed through the qPCR that the expression of the T-bet transcription factor of the Th1 cell profile, the one that effectively induces the fight against the tumor is greater in the CD tumor group in 14 days (1.83) when compared to the tumor group (1.08). The Treg cell transcription factor, FOXP3, is higher in the tumor group both in 7 (3.85) and in 14 (20.73) days when compared to the tumor group treated in 7 (2.32) and 14 (2.16 days; showing a scenario of difficult reversal. Through immunofluorescence, we found a higher mean fluorescence intensity of MHCI and co-stimulatory molecules in the lymph nodes of the CD tumor group in 14 days when compared to the tumor group. We also observed that adhesion molecules can face different stimuli during immunotherapy, we noticed that ICAM1 had a higher MFI in the lymph nodes of the tumor group both in 7 (79.32) and in 14 (147.3) days as compared to the treated group 7 (39.59) and 14 (81.49) days, ICAM2 had higher MFI in the lymph nodes of the CD tumor group in 14 (66.52) days when compared to the tumor group 14 days (56.4). CONCLUSION: We conclude that immunotherapy with dendritic cells in the fight against cancer, already proven effective, starts the process of modulating the immune system in 7 days, however with 14 days the modulation becomes more effective. For a better understanding of this mechanism and improvement of vaccination protocols, further studies that dynamically analyze the immune response to cancer should be performed and other molecules should be analyzed. Keywords: dendritic cells, cancer, immunotherapy, 4T1 cells, ICAM1, ICAM2, transcription factor

Lista de Figuras e/ou tabelas

Tabela 1 – Composição de solução mix inicial para transcrição reserva e solução enzimática *Volume sugerido pelo Kit do fabricante. Concentrações já estabelecidas no Kit.

Tabela 2 – Representação de reação qPCR com o kit GoTaq® qPCR MasterMix daPromega. *Reagentes estabelecidos em Kit único com [] de fábrica.

Tabela 3 - demonstrando o primers *forward e reverse* dos fatores de trancrição de células T auxiliates dos perfis Th1 – T-bet, Th2 – GATA3, Th17 -ROR γ t e Treg- FOXP3, bem como a temperatura de anelamento dos mesmos em °C (graus Celsius)

TABELA 4 - Genes usados para o ensaio de qPCR. Sequência de nucleotídeos etemperatura de anelamento para cada iniciador

FIGURA 1 - Aumento no volume do tumor no grupo de tumor não tratado em comparação com o grupo de tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas

Figura 2 - Representação gráfica do aumento de ICAM1 nos grupos tumor e tumor tratado (A, B) e comportamento diferenciado de ICAM2 nos grupos tumor e tumor tratado em 7 e 14 dias

FIGURA 3 - Representação gráfica do aumento de ICAM1 nos linfonodos do grupo controle de células dendríticas, tumor não tratado e grupo tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas em 7 e 14 dias.

FIGURA 4 - Representação gráfica do aumento de ICAM2 nos linfonodos do grupo controle de células dendríticas, grupo de tumor não tratado e grupo de tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas em 7 e 14 dias.

FIGURA 5 - Representação gráfica de CD49d (A) e LFA-1 (B) nos linfonodos dos grupos controle de células dendríticas, tumor e tumor tratados com imunoterapia de células dendríticas em 7 e 14 dias.

FIGURA 6 - Coeficiente de correlação de Pearson mostrando comportamento diferente de ICAM1 vs volume do tumor e ICAM2 vs volume do tumor em tumores do tumor e grupo de tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas.

FIGURA 7 - Coeficiente de correlação de Pearson mostrando comportamento diferente de ICAM1 vs volume do tumor e ICAM2 vs volume do tumor nos gânglios linfáticos do tumor e grupos de tumor tratados com imunoterapia de células dendríticas.

FIGURA 8 - Desenvolvimento tumoral em grupos experimentais induzidos ao desenvolvimento de tumor mamário com células 4T1 em 7 e 14 dias.

FIGURA 9 - Intensidade média de fluorescência (MFI) de células CD3 + em linfonodos com técnica de imunofluorescência.

FIGURA 10 - Média da intensidade de fluorescência (MFI) de células CD8 + em tumores pela técnica de imunofluorescência.

FIGURA 11 - Correlação de Spearman mostrando a correlação entre o desenvolvimento do tumor e a presença de CTLA4 nos gânglios linfáticos dos grupos experimentais

FIGURA 12 - Correlação de Spearman mostrando a correlação entre o desenvolvimento do tumor e a presença de CD8 + nos tumores dos grupos experimentais

FIGURA 13 - representação gráfica da cinética envolvendo os principais fatores de transcrição dos linfócitos T de 7 a 14 dias após a primeira dose de imunoterapia com células dendríticas.

Lista de abreviaturas ou siglas

- INCA instituto nacional do câncer
- MHCI Complexo Principal de Histocompatibilidade I
- DNA ácido desoxirribonucleico
- APC células apresentadoras de antígeno
- CD4 Grupamento de diferenciação 4
- CD8 Grupamento de diferenciação 8
- mAbs Anticorpos monoclonais
- carT cell receptor de antígeno quimérico de células T
- $Th2-T \ helper \ 2$
- Th1 T helper 1
- IL-12 Interleucina 12
- CD40 Grupamento de diferenciação 40
- CD40L Grupamento de diferenciação 40 ligante
- MHCII Complexo Principal de Histocompatibilidade II
- TCR receptor de células T
- NK natural killer
- IFN- γ Interferon γ
- Stat1 fator de transcrição
- MHC Complexo Principal de Histocompatibilidade
- TGF- β Fator de transformação do crescimento
- Treg T regulatório
- M2 Macrófagos M2
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth fator
- MMP2 Metaloproteinase 2
- IgSF molécula de adesão
- HLA I Human Leucocyte Antigen I
- HLA II Human Leucocyte Antigen II
- ICAM-1 molécula de adesão intercelular-1
- Anti-CD54 anticorpo contra grupamento de diferenciação 54
- MUC-1 Mucina

- $TNF-\alpha$ Fatores de Necrose Tumoral Alfa
- IL-1 interleucina 1
- ICAM-2 Molécula de adesão intercelular 2
- LFA-1 Molécula de adesão
- CD11a grupamento de diferenciação 11a
- 4T1 células tumorais de mama de camundongos Balb/c
- qPCR reação em cadeia da polimerase quantitativo
- Balb/c Camundongos isogênicos
- IPON Instituto de pesquisa em oncologia
- GM-CSF Fator de crescimento de colônias de macrófagos e granulócitos
- RNA (ácido ribonucleico
- cDNA DNA complementar
- H₂O água
- RT-PCR Transcrição reversa seguida de reação em cadeia da polimerase
- Dntp Desoxirribonucleotídeos Fosfatados
- RNAm ácido ribonucleico mensageiro
- T-bet fator de transcrição de linfócitos Th1
- GATA3 fator de transcrição de linfócitos Th2
- RORyt fator de transcrição de linfócitos Th17
- FOXP3 fator de transcrição de linfócitos Treg
- CD49 grupamento de diferenciação 49
- CD102 grupamento de diferenciação 102
- CD54 grupamento de diferenciação 54
- IMDM meio de cultura Iscove modificado do Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
- CTLA4 proteína CTLA-4
- PBS Tampão fosfato-salino
- MFI-intensidade media de fluorescencia

Sumário				
1.	INTRODUÇÃO	12		
2.	JUSTIFICATIVA	20		
3.	OBJETIVOS	21		
4.	METODOLOGIA	22		
5.	RESULTADOS	28		
6.	CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	68		
7.	CONCLUSÕES	69		
8.	REFERÊNCIAS	70		
9.	ANEXO 1 – CEUA (certificado protocolo 402)	83		
10.	ANEXO 2 – Comprovante Submissão Artigo 1	84		
	ANEXO 3 – Comprovante de submissão e aceite do artigo 2 referente a tese de			
doutor	ado	85		

1. INTRODUÇÃO

INCA (Instituto Nacional do Câncer) define o câncer como o um conjunto de mais de 100 doenças que têm em comum a divisão desordenada de um grupo celular. Este crescimento desordenado se dá devido a uma ou mais mutações ocorridas em genes específicos(INSTITUTO NACIONAL DO CÂNCER, 2018). Os fatores de risco que podem causar mutações celulares, transformando-as em células tumorais são divididos em: químicos, físicos e biológicos (AZAR et al., 2004). Em conjunto com uma falha na imunovigilância e alterações genéticas, uma célula normal adquire características de células tumorais. A principal característica desta célula tumoral é a capacidade de divisão acelerada e baixa taxa de apoptose, formando então um conjunto de células transformadas (INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE CÂNCER; (INCA), 2008; MINISTÉRIO DA SAÚDE INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE CÂNCER (INCA), 2011). O INCA estima para o biênio 2018 – 2019 mais de 600 mil novos casos de câncer no Brasil (INSTITUTO NACIONAL DO CÂNCER, 2018). Entre as mulheres o câncer mais comum, segundo estimativa, é o câncer de mama; e entre os homens é o câncer de próstata, com 57.960 e 61.200 novos casos, respectivamente (INSTITUTO NACIONAL DO CÂNCER, 2018).

O conceito de imunovigilância postula que leucócitos patrulham tecidos a procura de algum patógeno ou célula transformada que possam vir causar alguma inflamação ou infecção maléfica para o organismo (ZITVOGEL et al., 2016). O conceito de imunovigilância nos leva ao conceito de imunoedição. A imunoedição complementa o conceito de imunovigilância e demonstra a dicotomia do sistema imunológico frente ao desenvolvimento ou supressão do tumor. A imunoedição é dividida nos chamados três E's da imunoedição: eliminação, equilíbrio e escape (TENG et al., 2015).

Na primeira fase da imunoedição, também chamada de eliminação, encontramos o conceito de imunovigilância. Nesta fase são utilizados mecanismos da imunidade inata e adaptativa. Durante a fase de eliminação células que estão constantemente patrulhando o organismo encontram células transformadas e reconhecem as mesmas como antígenos as eliminando ativando mecanismos de apoptose(DUNN; OLD; SCHREIBER, 2004). A segunda fase, também chamada de equilíbrio, apresenta uma dormência frente ao sistema imunológico as poucas células tumorais restantes. Nesta fase não ocorre resposta imunológica assim como também não ocorre desenvolvimento do tumor pelas células tumorais que não foram eliminadas durante a primeira fase (DEEPAK MITTAL, MATTHEW M GUBIN, ROBERT D SCHREIBER, 2014). Pouco se sabe sobre a fase

de equilíbrio por ser uma fase de difícil acesso em modelos experimentais (DEEPAK MITTAL, MATTHEW M GUBIN, ROBERT D SCHREIBER, 2014; TENG et al., 2015).

Durante a última fase da imunoedição, também chamada de escape, por algum mecanismo ainda desconhecido, as células tumorais que se encontravam em estado de dormência na fase de equilíbrio começam a se dividir de maneira acelerada levando ao desenvolvimento do tumor (GAVIN P. DUNN LLOYD J. OLD, 2004). Durante a fase de escape as células tumorais remanescentes apresentam alguns mecanismos que burlam a vigilância imunologia, contribuindo para o desenvolvimento tumoral. Estas células apesar de mutadas e de se dividirem de maneira acelerada apresentam baixa imunogenicidade, ou seja, o sistema imunológico perde a capacidade de reconhecer estas células como células com potencial carcinogênico. De modo que podemos caracterizar este grupo celular como células que tem alta taxa de divisão, reduzida expressão de MHC I, e apresentam capacidade de produzir proteínas que visam reduzir a atividade leucocitária (DEEPAK MITTAL, MATTHEW M GUBIN, ROBERT D SCHREIBER, 2014; GAVIN P. DUNN LLOYD J. OLD, 2004; TENG et al., 2015).

Sabe-se que para o tratamento do câncer existem tratamentos seguramente eficazes.(WIRSDÖRFER; DE LEVE; JENDROSSEK, 2019). Ressecção cirurgica seguida de tratamento quimioterápico e/ou radioterápico tem eficácia comprovada e vem sendo usado ao longo do tempo como principal forma de tratamento para o combate ao câncer (BASKAR et al., 2012). Apesar de eficazes estes tratamentos desencadeiam reações adversas. A radiação utilizada na radioterapia é um agente físico e é chamada de radiação ionizante, pois quando atinge células tem a capacidade de formar íons e depositar energia nas células irradiadas. Estes íons causam danos no DNA de células atingidas impedindo que as mesmas se dividam de maneira acelerada ocasionando na apoptose das mesmas (FORMENTI; DEMARIA, 2013; SCHAUE; KACHIKWU; MCBRIDE, 2012).

A radiação ionizante da radioterapia atinge tanto células mutadas quanto células normais causando danos no tecido, algumas vezes irreversível (BASKAR et al., 2012). A quimioterapia tem como mecanismo de ação a administração de drogas citotóxicas que danificam células cancerígenas e células normais induzindo estas células a sofrer apoptose (ALAM, 2018). No início dos anos 2000, pesquisadores notaram potencial no uso de células dendríticas em imunoterapias contra o câncer (BANCHEREAU; PALUCKA, 2005; ZHANG et al., 2003), pelo fato de as mesmas serem células extremamente potentes na ação de ativar o sistema imunológico e por evitarem efeitos

colaterais como a necrose de tecidos submetidos a esta terapia, o que não acontece em radioterapia (DE LA PUENTE; AZAB, 2014) e quimioterapia.

Implícita no próprio nome, as imunoterapias podem ser definidas como terapias que visam ativar o sistema imunológico a combater um patógeno, de forma ativa ou passiva. As imunoterapias ativas são aquelas que visam ativar o sistema imunológico outrora inibido (MCCARTHY, 2006). Já as imunoterapias passivas visam o tratamento mais assertivo de uma determinada patologia (MCCARTHY, 2006). As células dendríticas são conhecidas como células apresentadoras de antígeno profissionais (APCs), pela sua grande capacidade e eficácia em realizar tal tarefa (MCDONNELL; ROBINSON; CURRIE, 2010). Exatamente por essa característica, as células dendríticas vêm sendo usadas em imunoterapias contra o câncer como vacinas (MCDONNELL; ROBINSON; CURRIE, 2010). Outra característica das células dendríticas que lhe dá o título de célula apresentadora de antígeno profissional é a capacidade de realizar apresentação cruzada, que consiste na apresentação de antígenos tanto para linfócitos T CD4+, gerando uma resposta imunológica de células T auxiliares, quanto para linfócitos T CD8+ citotóxicos, ativando estas, que são células especializadas na destruição de células infectadas (JOFFRE et al., 2012b).

Existem basicamente dois tipos de imunoterapias, as imunoterapias passivas e ativas(DAVIES, 2014; GAO et al., 2014). As imunoterapias passivas não visam a ativação do sistema imunológico, mas sim um combate direto ao tumor (KOKATE, 2017; OZVEREL; KARABOZ; NALBANTSOY, 2018). Podemos citar como exemplo as imunoterapias de imuno-check points. Estas imunoterapias são realizadas com anticorpos monoclonais (mAbs), estes anticorpos se ligam em regiões específicas das células tumorais impedindo que células ou citocinas imunossupressoras se liguem naquele determinado ponto (KOKATE, 2017).

De modo contrário as imunoterapias ativas visam ativar o sistema imunológico outrora inibido. Uma característica importante das imunoterapias ativa é que pelo fato de ativarem o sistema imunológico essas imunoterapias podem gerar memoria imunológica. Podemos citar dentre algumas as imunoterapias com células quiméricas (carT cell) (DANDAN XU1,*, GUOLIANG JIN1,*, DAFEI CHAI1, XIAOWAN ZHOU1, WEIYU GU1; CHONG1, 2018), imunoterapia com células T adotivas, imunoterapia com vacina de células dendríticas (DA CUNHA; MICHELIN; MURTA, 2014).

As células dendríticas, assim como outros leucócitos, são responsáveis pela secreção de citocinas que vão modular o sistema imunológico para uma resposta

dependendo do antígeno apresentado (KHAMAR, 2018; RODRIGUES et al., 2011). Por exemplo, parasitas e helmintos modulam uma resposta do perfil Th2, antígenos intracelulares e células infectadas modulam uma resposta do perfil Th1 (FAGUET, 2015; WAN, 2014). Dentre as citocinas produzidas e secretadas pelas células dendríticas, Bruno e colaboradores descreveram, em 2014, a IL-12 como a principal. A produção de IL-12 estimula um padrão de resposta imunológica de células T do perfil Th1, que seria o ideal para respostas antitumorais. Sabe-se que na ausência de produção de IL-12, o perfil de células T predominante é o perfil Th2 caracterizando o balanço Th1/Th2 (JANARDHAN; MARKS; GAJEWSKI, 2014; SABET-BAKTACH et al., 2013a).

Após a captura do antígeno a célula dendrítica secreta algumas citocinas, que atuam na ativação e maturação de linfócitos T. Existem dois caminhos para indução da produção de IL-12 pelas células dendríticas: o primeiro caminho envolve a invasão de algum agente patogênico, essa invasão induz a rápida produção de IL-12 sem necessidade de interação com linfócitos T, um segundo caminho seria dependente da interação com linfócitos T, que requer a ligação do CD40-CD40L (presentes em linfócitos T e células dendríticas respectivamente), ou a interação do MHC II com o TCR (T cell receptor) (FUKAO et al., 2012).

IL-12 atua tanto em linfócitos T como em células NK induzindo a produção de INF- γ . No mesmo trabalho *Banchereau* relata que células T CD8+ produzidas por estimulo de IL-12 apresentam maior quantidade de CD40L aumentando desta forma a citotoxicidade dos linfócitos T CD8+. A polarização de células T em perfil Th1 estimula também a secreção de IFNs dentre os quais estão presentes IFN- γ (BANCHEREAU; PALUCKA, 2005; QIAN et al., 2011). O IFN- γ é uma citocina produzida principalmente por células como NK, e linfócitos do perfil Th1. Stat1 é um fator de transcrição responsável pela produção e secreção de IFN- γ (YLIKOSKI et al., 2005). Embora a ativação de Stat1 representa apenas uma fração de todos os genes indutores de IFN- γ os genes induzidos por Stat1 desempenham um papel importante na maioria das funções biológicas do IFN- γ (KRAUSE et al., 2006).

Atualmente muito se tem discutido a respeito da determinação do perfil de linfócitos T auxiliares de acordo com a produção de citocinas, pois muitas delas são comuns a vários perfis. Assim sendo, discute-se uma proposta mais precisa na determinação do perfil de células T, que seria através dos fatores de transcrição presentes nestas células. Tem sido proposto que A diferenciação de cada linfócito T CD4⁺ em um perfil específico de células T é determinado pela expressão de fatores de transcrição

específicos por parte destas células (WU et al., 2014) aonde: T-bet é essencial para polarização do perfil Th1 (POSSEMATO et al., 2003), GATA3 é essencial para polarização de um perfil Th2 (OKAMURA et al., 2014), RORγt é necessário para polarização do perfil Th17 (SABET-BAKTACH et al., 2013b) e finalmente o FOXP3 que é essencial para a polarização dos linfócitos T CD4⁺ em linfócitos T regulatórios (treg) (CHEN; DU; HUANG, 2012).

T-bet descrito em 2000 por *SzaboS. J.et. al.* está presente no gene brachyury, neste gene está presente a família de fatores de transcrição T box (SZABO et al., 2000). Dentro dos genes desta família está presente o gene que codifica o INF- γ o IFNG. O T-bet induz a expressão do gene, ocorre então produção de IFN- γ que se liga a seu receptor e induz a ativação de STAT-1 que ativa genes responsáveis pela produção de IFN- γ e IL-12, os genes IFNG e IL12RB2 (OH; HWANG, 2014). Os linfócitos se diferenciam em linfócitos Th1 quando o fator de transcrição STAT 1 é ativado. Inicia-se a transcrição do fator de transcrição STAT 1 é ativado. Inicia-se a transcrição do fator de transcrição STAT 1 que ndo o IFN- γ se liga ao seu receptor. O STAT-1 ativa genes importantes na sobrevida e na função da célula. Como exemplo *Krause C. D. et. al.* citou em 2006 SOCS-1 que se liga no receptor do IFN- γ que permite a ativação de Jak-2. O perfil de célula Th1 é o ideal em uma resposta imunológica contra o câncer por produzir citocinas responsáveis pela ativação de células dendríticas por exemplo, citocinas capazes de ativar uma resposta contra um vírus ativando, consequentemente linfócitos T CD8+ conhecidos como citotóxicos (KRAUSE et al., 2006).

GATA3 é um fator de transcrição característico de linfócitos do perfil Th2. Altos níveis de GATA-3 foram observados pela primeira vez por (ZHENG; FLAVELL, 1997), quando comparada a expressão deste gene em linfócitos Th1. A ativação do GATA-3 estimula a secreção de IL-4, uma citocina responsável pela resposta imunológica a parasitas, a IL-4 que ativa a produção de IgE e aumenta a expressão de MHC de classe II. É produzida predominantemente por linfócitos Th2 e mastócitos (AKDIS et al., 2011).

RORγt é um fator de transcrição presente em linfócitos do perfil Th17, perfil este que produz citocinas pró-inflamatórias tais como: IL-6, IL-17, IL-21 e IL-23 (ZHENG, 2013). Basicamente estas citocinas tem a função de induzir a produção de citocinas, anticorpos atraindo e ativando outras células da resposta imune inata (AKDIS et al., 2011). Experimentos realizados em camundongos *knockout* para RORγt mostraram que estes animais não conseguiam induzir a polarização de linfócitos do perfil Th17 (LIN demosntrando que este fator de transcrição é essencial para a ativação do perfil Th17 (LIN et al., 2017a).

Descrito em 2002 o FOXP3 é o principal fator de transcrição das células T regulatórias e faz parte da grande família *forkhead winged-helix* e está ligado ao gene X. O FOXP3 é ativado quando o TGF-β se liga ao seu receptor (MANGAN et al., 2006). A expressão de FOXP3 em células T convencionais converte estas células em células do perfil Treg, com capacidade de induzir anergia e supressão na atividade destas células (FONTENOT; GAVIN; RUDENSKY, 2017).

FOXP3 não é obrigatoriamente necessário para o desenvolvimento de células Treg, porém a expressão de FOXP3 se mostra necessária para estabilizar as funções imunossupressoras destas células (FONTENOT; GAVIN; RUDENSKY, 2017). As células Treg têm função na homeostase do sistema imunológico, porém no câncer estas células têm papel imunossupressor, favorecendo o desenvolvimento do tumor. Ainda na homeostase há um desequilíbrio do balanço de células Treg quando FOXP3 é expresso por muito tempo (FONTENOT; GAVIN; RUDENSKY, 2017). As células Treg tem como principais marcadores a cadeia α do receptor de IL-2, o CD25, o CTLA-4 e o GITR (WARD-HARTSTONGE; KEMP, 2017). *Nakamura et. al.* relata em 2001 que estas células têm como citocinas características a IL-10 e TGF- β . Sabe-se que o microambiente tumoral produz dentre vários fatores, citocinas que induzem a polarização do perfil de células Treg como IL-10 e TGF- β (INFILTRATING et al., 2006).

Após fagocitar patógenos, as células dendríticas têm a capacidade de apresentálos como peptídeos via MHC (COMBER; PHILIP, 2014). Formado este complexo, a célula dendrítica expõe o mesmo em sua superfície e nos linfonodos ocorre a apresentação deste antígeno aos linfócitos T CD4, sendo que para ativação dos linfócitos T CD4 a interação com o receptor do linfócito (TCR) é feita exclusivamente com o MHC II e para a ativação de linfócitos citotóxicos T CD8 a interação é feita exclusivamente com o MHC I (COMBER; PHILIP, 2014; ZHU; YAMANE; PAUL, 2010).

Os linfócitos pertencentes a família dos linfócitos T CD8 apresentam características diferentes dos linfócitos T CD4. Os linfócitos T CD8 são ativados através da interação do seu TCR com o MHC I da célula alvo e moléculas coestimulatórias (KOKATE, 2017). A função do linfócito T CD8 é de destruir as células alvo, o linfócito T CD8 apresenta em seu interior, assim como as células NK, grânulos de perforinas, granzimas e outros com a função de perfurar a membrana citoplasmática e induzir a apoptose das células alvo(RODRIGUES et al., 2011). Embora a resposta do sistema imunológica ao câncer se mostre eficaz, o tumor dispõe de mecanismos chamados mecanismos de escape tumoral, que fazem com que o tumor burle a resposta imunológica

e se desenvolva cada vez mais (HEGDE; CHEN, 2020; TRINCHIERI, 2015). Entre os principais mecanismos de escape tumoral podemos citar: a produção de citocinas imunossupressoras por parte do tumor, como o TGF- β , o que polariza o perfil das células no microambiente tumoral para um perfil de células imunossupressoras, como os linfócitos T regulatórios (Treg) (LIAO et al., 2011), macrófagos M2 (FARHOOD; NAJAFI; MORTEZAEE, 2019), entre outros tipos celulares.

Outro mecanismo de escape tumoral é a perda da expressão do MHCI por parte das células tumorais (LUCKHEERAM et al., 2012). O microambiente tumoral tem também a capacidade de produzir fatores que estimulam a vascularização do tumor, como o VEGF e de MMP2 (HUMAR et al., 2014; LEE et al., 2018; PALUCKA; BANCHEREAU, 2012), que têm a função de destruir a matriz extracelular, facilitando, deste modo, a invasão de células tumorais para outros tecidos, dando início a metástase.

Voglestein e *Kinzelr* descreveram que para um tumor se tornar maligno existem três etapas. Na primeira etapa um gene modificado leva uma célula a ter potencial de se proliferar de maneira desordenada, a segunda etapa é caracterizada como a fase de expansão clonal desta célula modificada, e por fim, a terceira etapa está relacionada com a capacidade que as células tumorais ganham de invadir tecidos adjacentes caracterizando assim seu potencial de malignidade (SÖKELAND; SCHUMACHER, 2019). A capacidade que as células tumorais têm de sair do seu tecido de origem e invadirem tecidos adjacentes está fortemente relacionada às moléculas de adesão.

Durante o desenvolvimento do tumor todas as células do sistema imunológico interagem com a células tumorais de várias formas. O tráfico de células para o sítio da infecção, a ativação de células nos linfonodos, o recrutamento de novas células para o local da infecção, assim como a adesão de uma célula tumoral a outra ou a não adesão de uma célula tumoral a outra ou a não adesão de uma célula tumoral a outra o que pode gerar as metástases. Todos estes processos necessitam das chamadas moléculas de adesão. E através da presença ou não delas podemos justificar a presença ou não de metástases o que poderia nos dar também um prognostico com relação ao desenvolvimento da doença(HARJUNPÄÄ et al., 2019).

O processo pelo qual uma célula tumoral passa para invasão de outro tecido começa quando ela se desprende do sítio inicial e através da destruição da matriz extracelular dos vasos sanguíneos atinge a corrente sanguínea (SÖKELAND; SCHUMACHER, 2019). A partir daí a célula tumoral segue o fluxo sanguíneo, acontece então a adesão inicial desta célula tumoral através das selectinas na porção luminal dos vasos sanguíneos. A célula tumoral ligada as selectinas passa a rolar no sentido do fluxo

sanguíneo até que ocorra uma adesão mais forte com as integrinas, também chamado de ancoragem (SÖKELAND; SCHUMACHER, 2019). Após ancoragem desta célula tumoral a diapedese ocorre com ajuda das caderinas, permitindo então que esta célula tumoral invada tecidos diferentes do seu tecido inicial(SÖKELAND; SCHUMACHER, 2019).

As moléculas de adesão são divididas em cinco classes: integrinas, selectinas, caderinas, IgSF membro da superfamília das imunoglobulinas e mucinas (HARJUNPÄÄ et al., 2019). As selectinas são divididas em selectinas P, E e L-selectinas, baseado em qual tipo celular elas são encontradas(KAPPELMAYER; NAGY, 2017). Há uma diferença básica nas selectinas com relação ao momento da expressão das mesmas, as P-selectinas são expressas em minutos, as E-selectinas são expressas horas. As selectinas são importantes para a migração leucocitária, migração de leucócitos para os linfonodos e para pele(KAPPELMAYER; NAGY, 2017). As integrinas são grandes heterodímeros com uma cadeia α com tamanho de 120-170 kDa e outra cadeia β com tamanho de 90-100 kDa (HARJUNPÄÄ et al., 2019). Cada subunidade das integrinas tem uma função diferente, as subunidades α têm função de determinar a especificidade do ligante da integrina, já a subunidade β está conectada ao citoesqueleto e influencia várias vias de sinalização (BARCZYK; CARRACEDO; GULLBERG, 2010).

A IgSF é uma das mais diversas e maiores famílias de proteínas. Todos os membros desta família contem pelo menos um domínio de imunoglobulina ou semelhante a imunoglobulina, e a maioria dos membros são proteínas transmembrana tipo I com domínio extracelular e uma cauda citoplasmática (HARJUNPÄÄ et al., 2019). Os membros mais conhecidos desta família incluem HLA I e II e as proteínas do TCR (KAPPELMAYER; NAGY, 2017).

O ICAM-1 é expresso nas células endoteliais tem sua função juntamente ao desenvolvimento de novos tumores bem esclarecida. Sabe-se que o ICAM-1 faz a adesão célula-célula, célula-matriz extra celular (ROLAND et al., 2007). Um estudo clássico publicado em 2006, mostrou que o bloqueio de ICAM-1 com anti-CD54 inibiu o crescimento em um modelo de melanoma em camundongos (WANG et al., 2006). Quando MUC-1 se liga à ICAM-1 presente nas células endoteliais é induzido intracelularmente um sinal de cálcio que resulta em dois efeitos importantes: a liberação de quimiocinas, e a superexpressão de ICAM-1 por parte das células tumorais (ROLAND et al., 2007). É bem definido também que a secreção de TNF- α , IFN- γ e IL-1 aumenta a

expressão de ICAM-1 nas células endoteliais (FIGENSCHAU et al., 2018; ROLAND et al., 2007).

O ICAM-2 é expresso em tecidos normais predominantemente por células endoteliais neovasculares e por alguns leucócitos (YOON; MILLER; KREITZBURG, 2015). Quando expresso por células endoteliais vasculares, o domínio extracelular do ICAM-2 se liga a β_2 -integrinas nas superfície dos leucócitos como um passo inicial para a resposta imune (DE FOUGEROLLES et al., 1991). Nas células tumorais foi identificado que o ICAM-2 conferiu um fenótipo não metastático em células de neuroblastoma (YOON et al., 2008). Assim como o ICAM-1 o ICAM-2 tem como principal ligante o LFA-1 ou CD11a (HARJUNPÄÄ et al., 2019; YOON et al., 2008).

A expressão de LFA-1 em células hematopoiéticas o torna uma alvo potencial em leucemias e linfomas(REINA; ESPEL, 2017), tumores de origem hematopoiéticas expressam LFA-1 e podem ser alvos com anti-LFA-1(COHEN; HAIMOVICH; HOLLANDER, 2003). A expressão de LFA-1 em tumores não hematopoiéticos também tem sido relatada, em um modelo experimental de tumor cerebral em ratos a presença de LFA-1 em células metastáticas contribuiu com o desenvolvimento tumoral (SOTO et al., 2016). Os estudos com tumores não hematopoiéticos (REINA; ESPEL, 2017). Porém as células Treg presentes no infiltrado tumoral e a importância do LFA-1 para a função dessas células sugere que o bloqueio desta proteína limitaria a função das células Treg e melhoraria a ação do sistema imunológico contra o tumor (REINA; ESPEL, 2017).

2. JUSTIFICATIVA

O uso de animais na pesquisa se justifica pelo fato de o modelo animal ser isogênico. Este modelo isogênico diminui o as variações dando abertura para que estudos experimentais se transformem em estudos clínicos (KNIGHT, 2007). Resultados prévios em grupos experimentais e em grupos de estudo clínico demonstraram que a vacina de células dendríticas é eficaz, reduzindo o volume tumoral, aumentando a produção de citocinas que polarizam as células T auxiliares para um perfil ideal na resposta imune contra o câncer e aumenta-se também, a expressão do principal fator de transcrição deste perfil de células T, o perfil de células Th1.

Porém, para que haja uma melhor compreensão da resposta imunológica, são necessários aperfeiçoamentos nos modelos experimentais, analisando o desenvolvimento tumoral e perfil das células em diferentes estágios de tratamento, verificando os mecanismos envolvidos em cada etapa e as células da resposta imune e seus mediadores produzidos durante esta resposta antitumoral.

Para que possamos descrever de maneira clara o que acontece com o sistema imunológico durante o tratamento com vacinas de células dendríticas em animais induzidos a desenvolver câncer de mama com células 4T1, faz-se necessário a análise dos parâmetros anteriormente analisados somente em 30 dias após o início do tratamento com vacina de células dendríticas, e agora em 7 e 14 dias após o início do tratamento, para que possamos entender a cinética da resposta antitumoral, analisando os dados obtidos em datas diferentes, com o intuito de analisar pequenas mudanças no sistema imunológico.

3. OBJETIVOS

3.1 Objetivos gerais

Analisar a dinâmica que envolve as células da resposta imune frente aos mecanismos que são desencadeados pela imunoterapia com células dendríticas. Utilizando técnicas como imunofluorescência analisamos quando ocorre maior ou menor expressão de moléculas de adesão, analisamos ainda a presença de moléculas que fazem parte da ativação do sistema imunológico adaptativo nos linfonodos e nos tumores dos animais dos grupos experimentais. Ainda por imunofluorescência analisamos o infiltrado de células nos tumores dos grupos experimentais. Com qPCR analisamos a expressão dos fatores de transcrição de linfócitos T auxiliares.

3.2 Objetivos específicos

 Verificar a expressão dos fatores de transcrição de linfócitos T auxiliares CD4⁺ T-bet, GATA3, RORγt no baço de camundongos induzidos e não induzidos a desenvolver tumor com células 4T1, tratados e não tratados com vacina de células dendríticas por qPCR.

- Verificar a interação das células dendríticas com linfócitos nos linfonodos através de imunofluorescência com os marcadores CD3, CD4, MHCI, TCR, CD80, CD86, CD49d, CD11a, CD152, CD106, CD54 e CD102.
- Avaliar, por imunofluorescência, o perfil das células do infiltrado tumoral no microambiente tumoral obtidos de camundongos com câncer de mama induzido por células 4T1, assim como moléculas de adesão envolvidas no processo de migração celular. Os marcadores analisados serão: CD4, CD8, CD11a, CD49d, CD54, CD80, CD86, CD102, CD106, CD152 E LFA-1.

4. METODOLOGIA

4.1 Delineamento Experimental

O experimento utilizou 88 camundongos fêmeas da linhagem Balb/c, com idade entre 6 a 8 semanas, provenientes do biotério setorial do IPON – Instituto de Pesquisa em Oncologia. Os animais ficaram alojados em gaiolas (dimensões - 305x198x133mm), agrupados em não mais que 5 animais por gaiola, separados nos diferentes grupos experimentais, sendo submetidos a ambientes com ciclo claro/escuro (12h), temperatura controlada em torno de 22°C, +/-2°C, com alimentação e água *ad libitum*. Destes 88 camundongos, 70 foram divididos nos grupos experimentais.

Os 18 animais restantes foram utilizados para a confecção das vacinas de células dendríticas. Para cada 1 animal eutanasiado foram confeccionadas 4 doses de vacina de células dendríticas. Desta forma os 18 animais produziram doses suficientes de vacina de células dendríticas para vacinar os 40 animais dos grupos GII, GIV, GV e GVII. Para a produção da vacina aplicada no GII, GV (Grupo Vacina de Células Dendríticas) e no GIV e GVII (Grupo Tumor tratado com Vacina de Células Dendríticas) foram retiradas as células das medulas ósseas dos fêmures e das tíbias.

Então, as células foram colocadas em garrafas de 25cm^2 (volume 7,5 ml) a uma quantidade de $32,5 \times 10^6$, onde sob estímulos de GM-CSF ($13 \mu \text{L}$; $10 \text{ng}/\mu \text{L}$), IL-4 ($13 \mu \text{L}$; $10 \text{ng}/\mu \text{L}$), TNF- α ($23 \mu \text{L}$; $10 \text{ng}/\mu \text{L}$) e antígeno tumoral de células 4T1 ($23 \mu \text{L}$), as mesmas sofreram diferenciação em células dendríticas.

Para compreender a cinética da resposta imunológica, os protocolos de vacinação contarão com 1 dose aplicada nos animais submetidos a 7 dias de tratamento e 2 doses de

vacina aplicadas nos grupos submetidos a 14 dias de tratamento. Desta forma a divisão dos animais em sete grupos experimentais:

 GI (Grupo controle) = 10 animais, sendo 5 agrupados em GI, que foram eutanasiados no sétimo dia do período experimental. Lembrando que que este grupo não foi induzido ao desenvolvimento tumoral pela linhagem de células de tumor de mama 4T1 e também não foi tratado com vacina de células dendríticas;

• GII (Grupo Vacina de Células Dendríticas 7 dias) = formado por 10 animais que receberam 1 dose de vacina de células dendríticas e não receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1. Estes animais foram eutanasiados no sétimo dia do período experimental.

• GIII (Grupo Tumor 7 dias) = sendo formado por 10 animais que receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1, não foram tratados com a imunoterapia de células dendríticas e foram eutanasiados no sétimo dia do período experimental.

• GIV (Grupo Tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas 7 dias) = constituído por 10 animais que receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1, foram tratados com imunoterapia de células dendríticas e foram eutanasiados no sétimo dia do período experimental.

• GV (Grupo Vacina de Células Dendríticas 14 dias) = formado por 10 animais que receberam 2 doses de vacina de células dendríticas e não receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1. Estes animais foram eutanasiados no decimo quarto dia do período experimental.

• GVI (Grupo Tumor 14 dias) = sendo formado por 10 animais que receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1, não foram tratados com a imunoterapia de células dendríticas e foram eutanasiados no decimo quarto dia do período experimental.

• GVII (Grupo Tumor tratado com imunoterapia de células dendríticas 14 dias) = constituído por 10 animais que receberam células de linhagem tumoral mamário de camundongos 4T1, foram tratados com 2 doses da imunoterapia de células dendríticas e foram eutanasiados no decimo quarto dia do período experimental.

Sendo assim no total temos 7 grupos, GI (grupo controle), GII (grupo controle células dendríticas 7 dias), GII (grupo tumor 7 dias), GIV (grupo tumor células dendríticas

7 dias), GV (grupo células dendríticas 14 dias), GVI (grupo tumor 14 dias) e GVII (grupo tumor células dendríticas 14 dias).

Logo, no dia 7 do período experimental foram eutanasiados animais relativos aos grupos GI, GII, GIII E GIV, os demais animais relativos aos grupos GV, GVI E GVII foram eutanasiados no dia 14 do período experimental. Os resultados obtidos foram verificados e analisados pelo software *GraphPad Prism 5.0*, utilizando os testes estatísticos *Mann-Whitney*, *T Student* a depender da distribuição dos dados. As correlações entre as variáveis contínuas foram realizadas pelo teste de *Pearson* para as distribuições simétricas, e para as assimétricas pelo teste de *Spearman*.

4.2 Extração de material genético

Após a eutanásia uma parte do baço dos animais foi submetida a divulsão mecânica e as amostras foram completadas com TRIzol® até chegar a 1 mL. Em seguida, estas amostras foram incubadas e homogeneizadas por 5 min. a $15-30^{\circ}$ C. Foi adicionado 200 µL de clorofórmio, homogeneizado vigorosamente por 15s e incubado por 30°C por 3 min. com centrifugação não mais que 12000g, 15min., 2-8 °C. Neste momento, houve a separação de uma fase inferior fenol-clorofórmio, uma interfase e uma fase superior aquosa, na qual foi removida cuidadosamente e adicionou-se 300 µL de etanol 100% para precipitação do DNA, homogeneização e incubação a 30°C por 3 minutos, seguida por remoção do sobrenadante fenol-etanol para isolamento da proteína.

O DNA, precipitado, foi lavado 2 vezes com solução 0,1M de citrato de sódio a 10% de etanol: 1 mL da solução, e incubação por 30 minutos de 15 a 30°C com homogeneização periódica com centrifugação de 2000g/5 min./4°C. Cuidadosamente, foi removida a solução de lavagem deixando apenas o pellet de DNA. Em seguida, suspendeu-se este pellet de DNA em 2 ml de etanol a 75% e incubou-se a 30°C por 20 minutos com homogeneização periódica outra vez. Após isto, centrifugou-se a 2000G por 5 minutos a temperatura de 2 a 8 °C e em seguida, removeu-se de forma cuidadosa o etanol 75% deixando o pellet do DNA, guardando em tubo aberto.

As amostram foram incubadas e homogeneizadas por 5 minutos de 15 a 30°C, adicionado então 200 μ L de clorofórmio, com homogeneização vigorosa por 15s e incubação a 30°C por 3 minutos. Novamente, ocorreu uma homogeneização vigorosa por 15s e incubação de 30°C por 3 minutos e centrifugando a não mais que 12000G, por 15 minutos de 2 a 8 °C. Após esta etapa foi adicionado 500 μ L de álcool isopropílico e foram incubadas as amostras em 15 a 30°C por 10 minutos. Então centrifugadas, não mais que 12000G, por 10 minutos, 2 a 8 °C. O RNA precipitado forma um gel no fundo do tubo. O sobrenadante foi removido, adicionando então 1 mL de etanol 75%, e, em seguida homogeneização e centrifugação a não mais que 7500G, por 5 minutos de 2 a 8 °C. Por fim, retirou-se então o sobrenadante e se deixando o tubo semiaberto.

4.3 qPCR

Após realizar a eutanásia dos camundongos Balb/c por deslocamento cervical os baço dos animais dos 7 grupos foi divulsionado mecanicamente com auxílio de pinças e posteriormente submetidos a extração de RNA. O cDNA (DNA complementar) foi obtido por meio de RNA utilizando o kit GoScriptTM Reverse Transcription System. O pellet de RNA foi homogeneizado em 15 μ L H₂O tratada DEPEC (dietilpirocarbonato). Em outro frasco montou-se uma solução mix inicial para transcrição reserva com volume final de 24,5 μ L. A solução submetida ao termociclador *Veriti*® da life *Technologies* com ciclo de 5 minutos e desnaturação a 65°C e incubação de 1 minuto. Em seguida foi adicionado 6,0 μ L em tubo de solução enzimática (*Superscript IIIrt First Standard System Synhtheis for RT-PCR*) responsável pela transformação de RNA em cDNA, para essas soluções utilizou-se:

Tabela 1 – Composição de solução mix inicial para transcrição reserva e solução enzimática *Volume sugerido pelo Kit do fabricante. Concentrações já estabelecidas no Kit.

Reação cDNA			
Reagentes	Volume*		
Oligo dt	0,5 μL		
RNA	10 µl		
Dntp	1,0 µL		
H2O	13,0 μL		
Tampão Kit 5x	4,0 µL		
DTT 0,1 mol	1,0 µL		
Enzima Superscript IIIrt	1,0 µL		

Posteriormente, as amostras foram incubadas por 5 minutos a 25°C, seguida de incubação de 60 minutos a 50°C e inativação da reação a 70°C por 15 minutos. Por fim o

cDNA foi quantificado no *Qubit*® 2.0 *fluotomerter* (Life Technologies®) para posterior submissão a reação de qPCR com o kit GoTaq® qPCR MasterMix (Promega®) para verificar a expressão de RNAm dos fatores de transcrição T-bet, GATA3, RORγt e FOXP3 com controle endógeno de β-actina.

Tabela 2 – Representação de reação qPCR com o kit GoTaq® qPCR MasterMix da Promega. *Reagentes estabelecidos em Kit único com [] de fábrica.

Reação qPCR				
Reagentes	Volume	[] Aprox. *		
Go Taq PCR master mix	12,5 μL	1.5 x		
CXR reference DYE	0,2 µl	300 nM		
Primer R	0,45 μL	1µM		
Primer F	0,45 μL	1µM		
Água nuclease free	11,3 μL	-		
Amostra	0,1 µL	-		

O qPCR foi realizado no aparelho 7900HT Fast Real Time System® da *life Technologies* e contiveram reações com volume de 25µL com seguinte ciclo, 95°C por 2 minutos para desnaturação do cDNA, 40 ciclos de 95°C por 15 segundos e temperatura determinada pelo fabricante do primer por 1 minuto para anelamento e extensão e uma curva de dissociação de 95°C por 2:00 minutos, 95°C por 15 segundos e 57° por 1 minuto.

Tabela 3 - demonstrando o primers *forward e reverse* dos fatores de trancrição de células T auxiliates dos perfis Th1 – T-bet, Th2 – GATA3, Th17 -ROR γ t e Treg- FOXP3, bem como a temperatura de anelamento dos mesmos em °C (graus Celsius)

GENE	PRIMERS	TEMPERATURA DE ANELAMENTO (°C)
T-BET FORWARD	5'-TCAACCAGCACCAGACAGAG-3'	65
T-BET REVERSE	5'-AAACATCCTGTAATGGCTTGTG-3'	
GATA3 FORWARD	5'-TTATCAAGCCCAAGCGAAG-3'	- 65
GATA3 REVERSE	5'-TGGTGGTGGTCTGACAGTTC-3'	05
RORγt FORWARD	5'-ATGGACAGGGCCCCACACAGAGA-3'	- 50
RORyt REVERSE	5'CAAGTTCAGGACGCCTGGTTTCCTC- 3'	38

Foxp3 FORWARD	5'-ACTGCTGGCAAATGGAGTCT-3'	61
Foxp3 REVERSE	5'-AAGTAGGCGAACATGCGAGT-3'	
β-ACTINA FORWAR	5′TGTGATGGTGGGAATGGGTCAG 3′	
β-ACTINA REVERSE	5'-TTTGATGTCACGCACGATTTCC- 3'	65

4.4 Imunofluorescência

Para realização das imunofluorescência dos tumores e linfonodos segue protocolo para marcação. Leva-se a amostra congelada previamente em *tissue-tek* para o setor de imunofluorescência aonde a mesma é descongelada e colocada em um molde preenche-se o mesmo com tissue-tek e coloca-se a amostra a ser congelada. Este molde com tissue-tek e o fragmento a ser analisado é colocado no nitrogênio líquido por 4 minutos. Uma vez congelado a amostra não deve ser descongelada.

O bloco de tissue-tek congelado com a amostra segue para o criostato. O bloco foi colado no suporte usando tissue-tek. O criostato estava a temperatura de -24°C, se chegasse a -20°C o bloco começaria a descongelar prejudicando o manuseio e o corte do mesmo.

Por diferença de temperatura o corte (5µm) cola na lâmina que está à temperatura ambiente. Depois de cortada usamos solução de metanol fixar o corte na lâmina por 10 minutos. Lavamos a lamina 10 vezes com PBS previamente preparado com fosfato de potássio monobásico, fosfato de sódio bi básico, cloreto de sódio. Seguimos então a coloração que foi feita em cuba escura a fim de preservar os anticorpos da exposição direta a luz, que pode prejudicar a leitura da lâmina. Colocamos o anticorpo (volume variável) e a mesma teve incubação de 120 minutos. Lavamos 10 vezes com o PBS. Para fixação das lamínulas foi utilizado glicerol 3%.

5. RESULTADOS

5.1 Artigo 1 - Submissão para Immunotheraphy - Future Medicine

ICAM2 could be a marker of good prognosis in mice submitted to breast cancer development with 4T1 cells treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy

SAULO F. M. DA SILVA¹, EDDIE F.C. MURTA^{1,2} E MÁRCIA A. MICHELIN^{1,3}

Oncology Research Institute (IPON)¹; Disciplines of Gynecology and obstetrics² and immunology³,

Federal University of Triângulo Mineiro, Uberaba, Minas Gerais, CEP 38100-000, Brazil

ABSTRACT

INTRODUCTION: Dc Immunotherapy has taken a promising path. **OBJECTIVE:** evaluate behavior of adhesion molecules in dc immunotherapy. **MATERIALS AND METHODS:** 88 female Balb/c were divided into experimental groups, evaluated 7 and 14 days after dc immunotherapy. **RESULTS:** higher MFI of ICAM-1 in the lymphnodes and tumors in tumor group 14 days. Higher MFI of ICAM2 in tumor dc 14 days. Positive correlation in the lymphnodes with the ICAM-1 and the tumor volume in tumor group. Negative correlation between ICAM-2 and tumoral volume in lymph nodes of tumor group. **CONCLUSION:** increase in ICAM-2 in tumor dc and decrease in ICAM-1 leads us to conclude that dc vaccine positively influences immune system and that ICAM-2 could be a marker of good prognosis.

Key Words: Dendritic cell immunotherapy, Breast cancer, ICAM1, ICAM2, Active immunotherapy, CD49d, LFA1

LAY ABSTRACT

Previous results in experimental groups and in clinical study groups have shown that the dendritic cell vaccine is effective, reducing tumor volume, increasing the production of cytokines that polarize helper T cells for an ideal profile in the immune response against cancer and increase if also, the expression of the main transcription factor of this T cell profile, the Th1 cell profile.

However, for a better understanding of the immune response, improvements are needed in experimental models, analyzing tumor development and cell profile at different stages of treatment, checking the mechanisms involved in each step and the immune response cells and their mediators produced during this antitumor response.

In order to clearly describe what happens to the immune system during treatment with dendritic cell vaccines in animals induced to develop breast cancer with 4T1 cells, it is necessary to analyze the parameters previously analyzed only 30 days after the beginning

of treatment with dendritic cell vaccine, and now in 7 and 14 days after the start of treatment, so that we can understand the dynamics of the antitumor response, analyzing the data obtained at different dates, in order to analyze small changes in the immune system.

Introduction

Even though radiotherapy and chemotherapy are the most chosen anti-tumor therapies [1,2], some factors may limit their effectiveness. The imbalance between aggressive side effects of these therapies and a lack of response often lead patients to give up on treatments and stop attending the sections[2,3].

In recent years, immunotherapies have been gaining visibility in research mostly because they can be as effective as conventional therapies, but presenting minimal side effects. Among a myriad of immunotherapies, there are passive immunotherapies like immunological checkpoint block [4] and active immunotherapies, from which we can highlight the use of adaptive T cells [5] and dendritic cells vaccination [6].

Immunotherapies aim to overcome the immunological inhibition often caused by several tumor escape mechanisms, thus activating the immunologic system [7,8]. The final target of immunotherapies is always the destruction of the target cell by immune system cells, and it can be achieved by different manners. In this way, there is activation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes in a context of specific response while there could also be NK cells activation in a nonspecific response. However, the presence of molecules known as adhesion molecules is vital to lead these cells into maximum effective function [9].

Every cell of the immune system interacts with tumor cells in different ways during tumor development. Adhesion molecules are required in processes like cell trafficking to the site of infection, cell activation in lymph nodes, recruitment of new cells to the site of infection, tumor cell adhesion to another cell or even non-adhesion of tumor cells leading to metastasis. Moreover, it is possible to justify the presence or absence of metastases by the presence or not of adhesion molecules, which could also point to a prognosis regarding the development of the disease [9].

Adhesion molecules are divided into five classes: integrins, selectins, cadherins, IgSF immunoglobulin superfamily members and mucin [9]. Selectins are divided into P, E and L-selectins, based on which type of cell they are found [10]. Selectins are basically different in terms of time of expression, in which P-selectins are expressed in minutes while E-selectins are expressed in hours. Selectins are important for leukocyte migration to lymph nodes and skin [10]. Integrins are large heterodimers with one α and β chain [9]. There are different functions for each integrin subunit, where α subunits are responsible for determining the specificity of integrin ligands whilst β subunit is connected to the cytoskeleton and influences several signaling pathways [11].

IgSF is one of the largest and most diverse protein families. All members of this family contain at least one immunoglobulin or immunoglobulin-like domain and most members

are type I transmembrane proteins with extracellular domain and a cytoplasmic tail [9]. The best known members of this family include HLA I and II and TCR proteins [10].

ICAM-1 is expressed in endothelial cells and its role in the development of new tumors is well understood. ICAM-1 is known for participating in cell-to-cell, cell-to-cell matrix adhesion [12]. A classic study published in 2006 showed that blocking ICAM-1 with anti-CD54 inhibited growth in a mouse model of melanoma [13]. When MUC-1 binds to ICAM-1 present in endothelial cells, a calcium signal is induced intracellularly which results in two important effects: the release of chemokines, and the overexpression of ICAM-1 by tumor cells [12]. It is also well defined that the secretion of TNF- α , IFN- γ and IL-1 increases the expression of ICAM-1 in endothelial cells [12,14].

The expression of LFA-1 in hematopoietic cells makes it a potential target in leukemias and lymphomas [15], tumors of hematopoietic origin express LFA-1 and can be targeted with anti-LFA-1 [16]. The expression of LFA-1 in non-hematopoietic tumors has also been reported: in an experimental model of brain tumor in rats the presence of LFA-1 in metastatic cells contributed to tumor development [17].

Studies with non-hematopoietic tumors are not sufficient to make LFA-1 a direct target in non-hematopoietic tumors [15]. However, Treg cells present in the tumor infiltrate and the importance of LFA-1 for their function suggest that blocking this protein could limit the function of the Treg cells and improve the immune system's action against the tumor [15]

This study aims to evaluate the kinetics of the role of adhesion molecules ICAM-1, ICAM-2, LFA-1 and CD49d in tumor regression induced by immunotherapy with dendritic cells in mice bearing breast tumors. It looks forward to a possible prognosis marker for neoplasms. In order to accomplish this, analysis were performed through immunofluorescence techniques in tumors and lymph nodes from Balb/c lineage mice, where the molecules CD11a PE, CD49d PE, CD102 PE and CD54 PE were stained in lymph nodes and tumors from breast cancer bearing mice submitted or not submitted to dendritic cells immunotherapy.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Experimental design

The experiment was submitted to the ethics committee on the use of animals at the Federal University of Triangulo Mineiro under protocol number 402. Experiments were performed with 6 to 8-weeks-old female Balb/c mice (n=88) housed in an animal facility in IPON - Oncology Research Institute. Animals were housed in cages (dimensions - 305x198x133mm) grouped in no more than 5 animals per cage and separated into different experimental groups. They were in controlled conditions under light/dark cycle (12h), controlled temperature around 22 °C (+/- 2 ° C), and allowed food and water *ad libitum*. Seventy mice were divided experimental groups like described below:

The 4T1 cells were cultured in RPMI complete medium in a 37°C humidified incubator with 5% CO₂. For transplants, cells were removed from incubator, washed twice with saline and then centrifuged at 290g for 10 min at 4 °C. After this, a solution of 50 μ L with 2.0 x 10⁵ 4T1 cells were injected in the left breast of each animal through a 13x4.5 syringe. Beginning on day 7, tumor of the animals from groups that received breast tumor induction was measured at least every three days. Tumor volume was determined using the following formula:

[largest diameter x (smallest diameter)²]

2

18 animals were used to produce dendritic cell vaccines. Four doses of dendritic cell vaccine were prepared for each euthanized animal. Therefore, 18 animals produced sufficient doses of dendritic cell vaccine to vaccinate 40 animals in groups GII, GV (Dendritic Cell Vaccine Group 7 and 14 days respectively), GIV and GVII (Treated Tumor group with Dendritic Cells Vaccine 7 and 14 days respectively). In order to produce vaccines, cells were removed from the bone marrow of femurs and tibias. For the production of the dendritic cell vaccine applied in the experimental groups, cells were taken from the bone marrow of the femurs and tibiae of the mice. These cells were placed in bottles of 25cm^2 (volume 7.5 ml) at an amount of 32.5×10^6 , where under stimuli of GM-CSF (13μ L; $10ng/\mu$ L), IL-4 (13μ L; $10ng/\mu$ L), TNF - α (23μ L; $10ng/\mu$ L) and tumor antigen being a lysate of 4T1 cells (23μ L), they were differentiated into dendritic cells.

Groups were divided into groups where animals were euthanized seven days after the first dose of dendritic cell vaccine and 14 days after the first dose of dendritic cell vaccine. So there are 7 groups, GI (Control group), GII (Control group dendritic cells-7 days), GIII (Tumor group-7 days), GIV (Tumor group dendritic cells-7 days), GV (Group dendritic cells-14 days) , GVI (Tumor group-14 days) and GVII (Tumor group dendritic cells-14 days).

Therefore, animals related to groups GI, GII, GIII and GIV were euthanized on day 7 while other animals related to groups GV, GVI and GVII were euthanized on day 14 of the experimental period.

Immunofluorescence

The immunofluorescence of tumors and lymph nodes was performed in accordance with the following protocol. The sample previously frozen in tissue-tek was thawed and placed in a mold. It was filled with TISSUE TEK[®]. Both mold with TISSUE TEK[®] and the fragment to be analyzed were placed in liquid nitrogen for 4 minutes. The sample frozen with TISSUE TEK[®] went to the cryostat. The block was glued to the support using TISSUE TEK[®].

Due to the difference of temperature, the cut $(5\mu m)$ glued on the blade at room temperature. After cutting, we used a 30% methanol solution for 10 minutes in order to fix the sample on the blade. The slide was washed 10 times with PBS previously prepared

with monobasic potassium phosphate, bi-basic sodium phosphate and sodium chloride. We then followed the staining performed in a dark vat in order to preserve the antibodies from direct exposure to light, which could impair the reading of the slide. We placed the antibody (variable volume) and incubated for 120 minutes. We washed 10 times with PBS. It was used 3% of glycerol to cover the coverslips. The following markings were performed to this article: CD11a PE, CD49d PE, CD102 PE and CD54 PE.

The slides were analyzed using the inverted microscope system Eclipse TI-E Nikon. Subsequently, the images were quantified and analyzed using the software NISElements Advance Research, developed by Nikon. The slides were evaluated by 2 independent analyzers. The slides were scanned in zig zag until the end of the tissue. a total of 25 images were captured for each slide. Images were analyzed using the NIS-Elements Advance Research Analyzer software, where the medium fluorescence intensity of each marker point was determined in pixels. These values were transferred and analyzed with graphpad prism 5.0 software.

Statistical Analysis

The data obtained was analyzed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software. Kolmogorovsmirnov and Shapiro-wilk normality tests were performed. If the results passed the normality tests, ANOVA and T test parametric tests were performed; if they did not pass the normality tests, non-parametric Kruskal-Walis and Mann-Whitney tests were performed. Tests with a result of p <0.0001 were considered statistically significant. For the correlations, normality tests and Pearson's correlation were performed.

RESULTS

Tumoral volume during experiment

Analyzing the development of the tumor volume, we noticed that the Treated group (GIV) 0 - 0.0018 (5.625e-005) mm3 presented a smaller tumor volume when compared to the group without treatment (GII) 0.0018 - 0.0640 (0.0426) mm³ at the day 7th day. A Kruskal-Wallis nonparametric test was performed to obtain a p <0.0001. At the 14th day, the tumor volume was even greater in the Tumor group without treatment (GVI) 0.045 - 1.944 (0.562) mm3 when compared to the Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy (GVII) 0.0150 - 0.785 (0.143) mm3. Kruskal- nonparametric test Wallis also obtained a p <0.0001 comparing the two groups, as shown in the figure 1.

Higher amount of ICAM2 in tumors from the group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy in 14 days (GVII)

Analyzing ICAM1 in tumors from experimental groups, it is possible to see that the most MFI was in the Tumor group without treatment (GVI) at the 14th day 420.4 - 1529 (772.2) when compared to the others, as shown in the figure 2A. There is no significant difference in ICAM1 MFI when comparing the Tumor groups without treatment (GIII) 435.9 - 688.2 (551) and Treated tumor with dendritic cell immunotherapy (GIV) 416.4 - 860.1 (533) at the 7th day. In 14 days, it is possible to notice a significant difference when between both groups in question, where Tumor group (GVI) 420.4 - 1529 (772.2) and Treated tumor with dendritic cell immunotherapy (GIV) at the 14th day. The untreated tumor group has a higher MFI when compared to the Treated tumor group with dendritic cell immunotherapy.

Analyzing ICAM2 in tumors from experimental groups, it is possible to notice the same pattern in both 7 and 14 days. In Figure 2C, it is possible to see that the Tumor group without treatment (GIII) 532.7 - 1073 (825.6) presents a higher MFI when compared to the Treated tumor group with dendritic cell immunotherapy (GIV) 409.1 - 801 (592.4) at the 7th day. The same pattern is repeated at the 14th day. However, in a comparison of groups that received immunotherapy with dendritic cells, the group GVII (at the 14th day) 584.9 - 888.4 (717.9) has a higher MFI compared to the group GIV (at the 7th day) 409.1 - 801 (592.4).

The presence of ICAM1 in the lymph nodes analyzed may be a sign of poor prognosis

Analyzing the CD54 (ICAM-1), we noticed that the Tumor group-14 days (GVI) obtained a higher mean fluorescence intensity when compared to the other groups 139.2 - 159.2 (147.3) and consequently also higher when compared to the Tumor group-7 days (GIII) 73, 06 - 88.10 (79.32). When comparing groups, we noticed that the Tumor group treated with dendritic cell vaccine-14 days (GVII) 59.45 - 87.81 (81.48) has a higher mean fluorescence intensity when compared to the tumor group treated with a 7-day dendritic cell vaccine (GIV) 36.27 - 64.28 (38.59). After performing the analysis of variance, we obtained a p <0.0001 when comparing GI vs GIV, GII vs GIV, GIII vs GVI, GIV vs GVI and GVI vs GVII.

After analyzing the CD102 (ICAM-2), we noticed that the highest mean fluorescence intensity was found in the Control group (GI) 67.12 - 85.02 (83.42). When the Tumor groups 7 and 14 days were compared, we noticed that the highest mean fluorescence intensity was found in the Tumor group 7 days (GIII) 63.55 - 73.05 (66.9). When comparing the Tumor groups treated with the dendritic cell vaccine, we noticed that the Tumor group treated with the dendritic cell vaccine 14 days (GVII) 61.46 - 68.25 (66.52) obtained a higher mean fluorescence intensity as shown in the figure 3B. All groups passed the normality test, then the analysis of variance was performed and p <0.0001 was obtained when comparing GIII vs GVI and GIV vs GVII.

As for CD49d, we noticed that the highest mean fluorescence intensity was found in the Tumor group at 14 days (GVI) 93.22 - 114.7 (98.65) followed by the Tumor group at
7 days (GIII) 91.38 - 101 (91.38). Regarding the Tumor group treated with the dendritic cell vaccine, we note that there is a slight increase in the group of 14 days (GVII) when compared to the group treated with 7 days (GIV) 60.12 - 66.07 (63.66), but both are smaller than the Tumor groups at days 7 and 14 respectively (GIII and GVI, respectively) (5A). The group treated only with the dendritic cell vaccine had a higher mean fluorescence intensity in 14 days (GVII) 77.59 - 89.57 (80.41) when compared to the group of 7 days (GIV) 65.13 - 69.68 (66.65). When Turkey's multiple comparison test was performed, we did not obtain a statistically significant "p".

The LFA-1 showed higher mean fluorescence intensity in Tumor group at the 7th day (GIII) 96.19 - 143.5 (119.7) followed by tumor group at the 14th day (GVI) 88.47 - 102.7 (94.47). The highest mean fluorescence intensity among both groups is from the tumor group at the 7th day (GIII). The Tumor groups treated with dendritic cell vaccine had an average similar fluorescence intensity at the 7th day (GIV) 62.16 - 83.12 (71.05) when compared to group at the 14th day (GVII) 58.16 - 76.42 (65.67) as shown in the figure 5B. In GIV and GVII there was a higher MFI in 7 days (GIV) 68.65 - 86.52 (75.22) when compared to the group of 14-days (GVII) 5.96 - 49.49 (38.13). Variance analysis showed a p <0.0001 when comparing GIII vs GVI.

Reverse behavior of ICAM1 and ICAM2 in analyzed lymph nodes and tumors

For tumors, there was a strong correlation when compared tumor development to ICAM1 (r = 0.9150) in Tumor group (6A). In Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy, this correlation was weaker (r = -0.1410) (6C). Still in tumor, when analyzing the correlation between tumor development and ICAM2, negative correlation (r = -0.5976) (6B) in Tumor group and a positive correlation in Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy (r = 0.5544) were noticed as shown in the figure 6D.

In lymph nodes, an opposite behavior was found when compared to tumors. A strong correlation (r = 0.9297) was found when analyzing ICAM1 to tumor development in the Tumor group as shown in the figure 7A. In the Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy, this correlation became negative (r = -0.06481) (7C). Still in lymph nodes, a negative correlation was found when analyzing tumor development to ICAM3 in the Tumor group (r = -0.7310) (7B) while in Tumor group treated with cell immunotherapy there was a negative correlation (r = -0.6482) as shown in the figure 7D.

DISCUSSION

Described in 1974 by Steinman, dendritic cells are known as professional antigen presenting cells[18,19]. In the last two decades, immunotherapies have been gaining a prominent place in the fight against cancer [6]. Check point immunotherapies are already used as treatment for some types of cancer [20].

The use of dendritic cell immunotherapy is promising because of its ability to modulate both the innate and adaptive immune system for an effective response against tumor development [21–24].

In addition, dendritic cells have MHCI and MCHII molecules on their surface, which allows them to do what is known as cross-presentation, activating CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes [25]. The modulation caused by dendritic cells is capable of altering even the presence of some adhesion molecules involved in the immune response, such as ICAM1 and ICAM2 [9,26,27]. The role of some of these molecules will be discussed.

As previously demonstrated, the presence of LFA-1 is important to the immune response of cytotoxic lymphocytes and NK cells against the tumor, once its binding directs the released granules in a more favorable way to the destruction of tumoral cells [15]. However, if these cells have an immunosuppressive profile (i.e. as an infiltration of Treg lymphocytes), the immunosuppressive function of this cell will be exerted if this infiltrate is not inflammatory [28]. Our results demonstrate that, at all times, the Tumor group had a greater amount of LFA-1 in the lymph nodes when compared to the other groups. It has been shown that the infiltration of Treg lymphocytes in tumors is consistent with a poor prognosis [29].

Another important integrin in the process of combating the tumor is CD49d. As well as LFA-1, the presence of CD49d in tumor infiltrates of Treg profile cells is consistent with a poor prognosis [30]. Regarding this integrin, our results demonstrate the same profile as LFA-1, where the Untreated groups at 7 and 14 days (GIII and GVI) have a higher mean fluorescence intensity when compared to the Tumor Treated groups at 7 and 14 days (GIV and GVII).

Regarding the LFA-1 ligand, ICAM-1, our results demonstrate that the highest mean fluorescence intensity was found in the Tumor group without treatment at 7 and 14 days timepoints (GIII and GVI, respectively) when compared to the Treated Tumor group. From 7th to the 14th day, there is a significant increase in ICAM-1 in the untreated Tumor group. ICAM-1 is a marker of triple negative and more aggressive breast tumors [31]. Our results demonstrate that immunotherapy with dendritic cells may be attenuating this pro-tumor immune response. In the case of a prolonged tumor immune response, the tendency is a predominant T cell balance of Th17/Treg [32,33], which is favorable to the development of tumor and a poor prognosis. As we know, the production of inflammatory cytokines induces the highest expression of ICAM-1 [14]. It is possible to infer with our results that the treatment with dendritic cell vaccine makes it difficult to activate ICAM-1 due to the fact that the vaccine activates a Th1 cell profile, which would be necessary to generate an efficient antitumor response [34].

ICAM1 has been reported to be associated with more aggressive breast tumors [14] in addition to poor prognosis during an antitumor immune response [35]. The expression of ICAM1 is deeply associated with the proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α [36]. TNF- α is a cytokine present in the Th17 cell profile, a cell profile that induces an exacerbated inflammatory response [37] and that during an antitumor response has a dichotomous role [38–41]. These roles might be against tumor development by inducing an inflammatory response or favoring the tumor development by facilitating the formation of metastatic sites [40].

It is known that ICAM-2 expression is beneficial. Studies show that the role of ICAM-2, differently from ICAM-1, decreases tumor development and its metastatic potential [42,43]. Given that, it can be inferred that ICAM2 would be a marker of good prognosis. Our results showed that the Treated Tumor group-14 days (GVII) showed a higher mean fluorescence intensity when compared to the Tumor group-14 days (GVI). The Treated Tumor group (GIV) had a lower mean fluorescence intensity at the 7th day when compared to the Tumor group (GIII) at the same time point. This increase in ICAM-2 in the Treated Tumor group leads us to the conclusion that the dendritic cell vaccine positively influences the immune system in fighting the tumor.

From what has been described in the literature regarding cancer-related ICAM2, it is known that the protein is associated with an antitumor immune response in the early stages of cancer [44,45]. It has also been shown that once induced by p53, a protein that provides protection to the genome, ICAM2 plays a role in inhibiting the migration and invasion; it has also been shown that p53 activation is related to the higher expression of ICAM2 [46]. Another study published in 2011 demonstrated that ICAM2 plays a role in the anti-tumor immune response by inducing the infiltration of immature myeloid dendritic cells in patients with pancreatic cancer [44].

CONCLUSION

With our results, we demonstrated that in dendritic cell immunotherapy, ICAM2 effectively acts as a marker of good prognosis. We can infer this according to results found as an increase in ICAM-2 in the Treated Tumor group and a decrease in adhesion molecules that could facilitate tumor development and a possible metastasis such as LFA-1, ICAM-1 and CD49d. Corroborating these results we noticed that the tumor volume in the Treated Tumor group in general is smaller when compared to the Tumor group. The role of adhesion molecules in immunotherapies in the context of cancer is yet not very clear, more studies should be carried out in this way so that we can define the role of these molecules in the response of immunotherapies.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

We hope that with this work there will be a greater interest in understanding the dynamics of the immune response in active immunotherapies and that in the coming years the mechanisms that involve the immune response will be better described. This could bring the possibility of better vaccination protocols, being able to combat tumor development more effectively and that with that dendritic cell vaccination protocols can be improved.

Summary points

• Kinetic evaluation of the immune system in dendritic cell immunotherapy against breast cancer.

- Difference of tumoral volume in tumor treated and untreated groups.
- Different behavior of ICAM2 compared to ICAM1 in experimental groups.
- Can ICAM2 act as a marker of good prognosis?

Figure and tables Legends

Table 1. Table showing the experimental design. Among the 7 experimental groups, the table shows which group was challenged with 4T1 cells, the day during the experimental period in which the groups were euthanized and which group were treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy.

Figure 1. Increase in tumor volume in the untreated tumor group compared to the tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy. Graphical representation of the tumor volume from the Tumor and Treated Tumor groups throughout the experimental period. The tumors from the Tumor and Treated Tumor groups were measured on days 7 and 14 of the experimental period and are represented in this graph in mm3. The Tumor group received tumor induction of 4T1 cells and was not treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy, while the Treated group received tumor induction of 4T1 cells and was treated with up to 3 doses of dendritic cell immunotherapy. **** represents the value of p <0.0001 in the kruskal-wallis analysis of variance.

Figure 2. Graphical representation of the increase in ICAM1 in the tumor and tumor treated groups (A, B) and differentiated behavior of ICAM2 in the tumor and treated tumor groups in 7 and 14 days. Graphic representation showing the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of ICAM1(A, B) and ICAM2 (C, D) in the tumors of the experimental groups. The groups that presented tumors were analyzed so there is a Tumor group-7 day (GIII), a Treated tumor group with dendritic cell immunotherapy-7 days (GIV), a Tumor group-14 days (GVI) and a Treated tumor group with dendritic cell immunotherapy-14 days (GVI). Mann-Whitney test was performed between groups Tumor 7 and Tumor 14 days, obtaining p=0.002.

Figure 3. Graphical representation of the increase in ICAM1 in the lymph nodes of the control dendritic cell group, tumor untreated and tumor group treated with immunotherapy of dendritic cells in 7 and 14 days. (A)Average fluorescence intensity of ICAM1 in the Control group (GI), Control group 7 days dendritic cells (GII), Tumor group 7 days (GIII) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy 7 days (GIV) . (B) Mean fluorescence intensity of ICAM1 in the Control groups (GI), Control group 14 days (GVI) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cells in 4 days (GV), Tumor group 14 days (GVI) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy 14 days (GVI). (C) Mean fluorescence intensity of ICAM1 in the GII, GIII, GIV, GV, GVI and GVII groups. Mann-Whitney test was performed between groups Tumor 7 and Tumor 14 days, obtaining p=0.0016.

Figure 4. Graphical representation of the increase in ICAM2 in the lymph nodes of the dendritic cell control group, untreated tumor group and tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy in 7 and 14 days. (A) Average fluorescence intensity of ICAM2 in the Control group (GI), Control group 7 days dendritic cells (GII), Tumor group 7 days (GIII) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy 7 days (GIV). (B) Mean fluorescence intensity of ICAM2 in the Control group dendritic cells 14 days (GV), Tumor group 14 days (GVI) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cells 14 days (GV), Tumor group 14 days (GVI) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cells 14 days (GV), Tumor group 14 days (GVI) and Tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy 14 days (GVII). (C) Mean fluorescence intensity of ICAM2 in groups GII, GIII, GIV, GV, GVI and GVII. * represents p <0.0001 after performing the Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test.

Figure 5. Graphical representation of CD49d (A) and LFA-1 (B) in the lymph nodes of the dendritic cell control groups, tumor and tumor treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy in 7 and 14 days. Graph of MFI by the immunofluorescence technique in the lymph nodes of the various experimental groups of the CD49d (A) and LFA-1 (B) molecules. GI represents Control group, GII Control group CD 7 days, GII Tumor group 7 days, GIV Treated Tumor Group 7 days, GV Control group CD 14 days, GVI Tumor Group 14 days and GVII Treated Tumor treated 14 days.

Figure 6. Pearson's correlation coefficient showing different behavior of ICAM1 vs tumor volume and ICAM2 vs tumor volume in tumors of the tumor and tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy. It is showing a correlation between tumor development and the adhesion molecules ICAM1 and ICAM2 in tumors from experimental groups induced to develop 4T1 cells breast tumor treated and untreated with dendritic cell immunotherapies. (A) ICAM1 vs tumor volume in Tumor group, (B) ICAM1 vs tumor volume in Treated tumor group, (C) ICAM2 vs tumor volume in Tumor group, (D) ICAM2 vs tumor volume in Treated tumor group.

Figure 7. Pearson's correlation coefficient showing different behavior of ICAM1 vs tumor volume and ICAM2 vs tumor volume in the lymph nodes of the tumor and tumor groups treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy. It is showing correlation between tumor development and the adhesion molecules ICAM1 and ICAM2 in lymph nodes from the experimental groups induced to develop 4T1 cells breast tumor treated and untreated with dendritic cell immunotherapies. (A) ICAM1 vs tumor volume in Tumor group, (B) ICAM1 vs tumor volume in Treated tumor group, (C) ICAM2 vs tumor volume in Tumor group, (D) ICAM2 vs tumor volume in Treated tumor group.

REFERENCES

- 1 Asna N, Livoff A, Batash R *et al.* Radiation therapy and immunotherapy— A potential combination in cancer treatment. *Curr. Oncol.* 25(5), e454–e460 (2018).
- 2 Baskar R, Lee KA, Yeo R, Yeoh KW. Cancer and radiation therapy: Current advances and future directions, (2012).
- 3 Baskar R, Dai J, Wenlong N, Yeo R, Yeoh KW. Biological response of cancer cells to radiation treatment, (2014).
- 4 Lee JY, Lee HT, Shin W *et al.* Structural basis of checkpoint blockade by monoclonal antibodies in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat. Commun.* 7, 1–10 (2016).
- 5 Perica K, Varela JC, Oelke M, Schneck J. Adoptive T Cell Immunotherapy For Cancer. *Rambam Maimonides Med. J.* 6(1), e0004 (2015).
- 6 Calmeiro J, Carrascal MA, Tavares AR *et al.* Dendritic cell vaccines for cancer immunotherapy: The role of human conventional type 1 dendritic cells. *Pharmaceutics* 12(2), 1–20 (2020).
- 7 Hegde PS, Chen DS. Top 10 Challenges in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Immunity* 52(1), 17–35 (2020).
- 8 Koury J, Lucero M, Cato C *et al.* Immunotherapies: Exploiting the immune system for cancer treatment. *J. Immunol. Res.* 2018 (2018).
- 9 Harjunpää H, Asens ML, Guenther C, Fagerholm SC. Cell adhesion molecules and their roles and regulation in the immune and tumor microenvironment. *Front. Immunol.* 10(MAY) (2019).
- 10 Kappelmayer J, Nagy B. The interaction of selectins and PSGL-1 as a key component in thrombus formation and cancer progression. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2017 (2017).
- Barczyk M, Carracedo S, Gullberg D. Integrins. *Cell Tissue Res.* 339(1), 269–280 (2010).
- 12 Roland CL, Harken AH, Sarr MG, Barnett CC. ICAM-1 expression determines malignant potential of cancer. *Surgery* 141(6), 705–707 (2007).
- 13 Wang S, Coleman EJ, Pop LM, Brooks KJ, Vitetta ES, Niederkorn JY. Effect of an anti-cd54 (ICAM-1) monoclonal antibody (UV3) on the growth of human uveal melanoma cells transplanted heterotopically and orthotopically in SCID mice. *Int. J. Cancer* 118(4), 932–941 (2006).
- 14 Figenschau SL, Knutsen E, Urbarova I *et al.* ICAM1 expression is induced by proinflammatory cytokines and associated with TLS formation in aggressive breast cancer subtypes. *Sci. Rep.* 8(1), 1–12 (2018).
- 15 Reina M, Espel E. Role of LFA-1 and ICAM-1 in cancer. *Cancers (Basel)*. 9(11), 1–14 (2017).

- 16 Cohen S, Haimovich J, Hollander N. Anti-idiotype × Anti-LFA-1 Bispecific Antibodies Inhibit Metastasis of B Cell Lymphoma. J. Immunol. 170(5), 2695– 2701 (2003).
- 17 Soto MS, O'Brien ER, Andreou K *et al.* Disruption of tumour-host communication by downregulation of LFA-1 reduces COX-2 and e-NOS expression and inhibits brain metastasis growth. *Oncotarget* 7(32), 52375–52391 (2016).
- 18 Breckpot K, Escors D. Dendritic Cells for Active Anti-Cancer Immunotherapy: Targeting Activation Pathways Through Genetic Modification. *Endocrine, Metab. Immune Disord. - Drug Targets* 9(4), 328–343 (2012).
- 19 Steinman RM, Cohn ZA. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. J. Exp. Med. 137(5), 1142–62 (1973).
- 20 Hsu FS, Su CH, Huang KH. A Comprehensive Review of US FDA-Approved Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Urothelial Carcinoma. J. Immunol. Res. 2017 (2017).
- 21 Clark GJ, Angel N, Kato M *et al.* The role of dendritic cells in the innate immune system. *Microbes Infect.* 2(3), 257–272 (2000).
- 22 Fernández-Delgado I, Calzada-Fraile D, Sánchez-Madrid F. Immune regulation by dendritic cell extracellular vesicles in cancer immunotherapy and vaccines. *Cancers (Basel)*. 12(12), 1–23 (2020).
- Gallois A, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cell-targeted approaches to modulate immune dysfunction in the tumor microenvironment. *Front. Immunol.* 4(DEC), 1–8 (2013).
- 24 Kumar C, Kohli S, Bapsy PP *et al.* Immune modulation by dendritic-cell-based cancer vaccines. *J. Biosci.* 42(1), 161–173 (2017).
- 25 Joffre OP, Segura E, Savina A, Amigorena S. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 12(8), 557–569 (2012).
- 26 Chae YK, Choi WM, Bae WH *et al.* Overexpression of adhesion molecules and barrier molecules is associated with differential infiltration of immune cells in non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci. Rep.* 8(1), 1–10 (2018).
- 27 Comrie WA, Li S, Boyle S, Burkhardt JK. The dendritic cell cytoskeleton promotes T cell adhesion and activation by constraining ICAM-1 mobility. *J. Cell Biol.* 208(4), 457–473 (2015).
- 28 Curiel TJ, Coukos G, Zou L *et al.* Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. *Nat. Med.* 10(9), 942–949 (2004).
- 29 Donizy P, Kaczorowski M, Halon A, Leskiewicz M, Kozyra C, Matkowski R. Paucity of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is an unfavorable prognosticator and predicts lymph node metastases in cutaneous melanoma patients. *Anticancer Res.*

35(1), 351–358 (2015).

- 30 Lee KM, Han W, Kim J Bin *et al.* The CD49d +/high subpopulation from isolated human breast sarcoma spheres possesses tumor-initiating ability. *Int. J. Oncol.* 40(3), 665–672 (2012).
- 31 Guo P, Huang J, Wang L *et al.* ICAM-1 as a molecular target for triple negative breast cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111(41), 14710–14715 (2014).
- Knochelmann HM, Dwyer CJ, Bailey SR *et al.* When worlds collide: Th17 and Treg cells in cancer and autoimmunity. *Cell. Mol. Immunol.* 15(5), 458–469 (2018).
- 33 Lee MH, Chang JTC, Liao CT, Chen YS, Kuo ML, Shen CR. Interleukin 17 and peripheral IL-17-Expressing T cells are negatively correlated with the overall survival of head and neck cancer patients. *Oncotarget* 9(11), 9825–9837 (2018).
- 34 Khamar B. Active Immunotherapy in cancer Current Status. *Nov. Approaches Cancer Study* 1(3), 1–11 (2018).
- 35 Schröder C, Witzel I, Müller V *et al.* Prognostic value of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1 expression in breast cancer. *J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol.* 137(8), 1193–1201 (2011).
- 36 Couffinhal T, Duplaa C, Labat L *et al.* Tumor necrosis factor-α stimulates ICAM-1 expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Arterioscler*. *Thromb.* 13(3), 407–414 (1993).
- 37 Lin YC, Lin YC, Wu CC *et al.* The immunomodulatory effects of TNF-α inhibitors on human Th17 cells via RORγt histone acetylation. *Oncotarget* 8(5), 7559–7571 (2017).
- 38 Alves JJP, Fernandes TAA de M, De Araújo JMG *et al.* Th17 response in patients with cervical cancer. *Oncol. Lett.* 16(5), 6215–6227 (2018).
- 39 Carvalho DFG, Zanetti BR, Miranda L *et al.* High IL-17 expression is associated with an unfavorable prognosis in thyroid cancer. *Oncol. Lett.* 13(3), 1925–1931 (2017).
- 40 Dahal LN. The dichotomy of T helper 17 cells in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 17(9), 592 (2017).
- 41 Lazarevic V, Chen X, Shim J-H *et al.* T-bet represses T(H)17 differentiation by preventing Runx1-mediated activation of the gene encoding RORγt. *Nat. Immunol.* 12(1), 96–104 (2011).
- Feduska JM, Aller SG, Garcia PL *et al.* ICAM-2 confers a non-metastatic phenotype in neuroblastoma cells by interaction with α-actinin. *Oncogene* 34(12), 1553–1562 (2015).
- 43 Yoon KJ, Miller AL, Kreitzburg KM. The role of ICAM-2 in neuroblastoma. *Oncoscience* 2(11), 915–916 (2015).
- 44 Hiraoka N, Yamazakiitoh R, Ino Y et al. CXCL17 and ICAM2 are associated

with a potential anti-tumor immune response in early intraepithelial stages of human pancreatic carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology* 140(1), 310-321.e4 (2011).

- 45 Mori H, Kubo M, Kai M *et al.* T-bet+ lymphocytes infiltration as an independent better prognostic indicator for triple-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 176(3), 569–577 (2019).
- 46 Sasaki Y, Tamura M, Takeda K *et al.* Identification and characterization of the intercellular adhesion molecule-2 gene as a novel p53 target. *Oncotarget* 7(38), 61426–61437 (2016).

Figures and tables

	GI	GII	GIII	GIV	GV	GVI	GVII
EUTHANASIA 7 DAYS AFTER FIRST IMMUNOTHERAPY	х	x	x	x			
TUMOR INDUCTION WITH 4T1 CELLS			x	x		x	x
SUBMITTED TO DENDRTIC CELL		x		x	x		x
IMMUNDI HERAPY EUTHANASIA 14 DAYS AFTER FIRST IMMUNOTHERAPY					x	x	x







- -■· TUMOR GROUP
- ← DC CONTROL GROUP
- -A- TUMOR DC GROUP



- ← DC CONTROL GROUP
- -■· TUMOR GROUP
- -A- TUMOR DC GROUP



TUMOR

5.2 Artigo 2 – Submetido e aceito na revista Brazilian Journal od development

DYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF THE IMMUNOLOGICAL RESPONSE OF BALB/C MICE WITH EXPERIMENTAL BREAST CANCER SUBMITTED TO IMMUNOTHERAPY TREATMENT OF DENDRITIC CELL

ANÁLISE DINÂMICA DA RESPOSTA IMUNOLÓGICA DE CAMUNDONGOS BALB/c COM CÂNCER DE MAMA EXPERIMENTAL SUBMETIDO A IMUNOTERAPIA DE CÉLULAS DENDRÍTICAS

INTRODUCTION: Cancer is a complex disease because it is capable of inhibiting the immune response through tumor escape mechanisms. **OBJECTIVE:** analyze the dynamics of the immune system during cancer treatment with dendritic cell immunotherapy. We evaluated the presence of tumor infiltrate of CD8 T lymphocytes, transcription factors of CD4 T lymphocytes in the spleen of these animals, the development of tumor volume and the behavior of coestimulatory molecules. **METHODS:** 70 female Balb/c mice were divided into experimental and control groups, they were evaluated on the 7th e 14th days after tumor challenge and dendritic cell immunotherapy. **RESULTS:** Molecules such as T-bet, showed an increased expression in treated tumor group. Our results also demonstrated the higher MFI of CD8 + T lymphocytes infiltrate in the treated groups. Thus, there is a greater MFI of protumoral co-stimulatory molecules such as CTLA4 in the untreated groups. **CONCLUSION:** the immune system is able to modulate an immune response against tumor within 14 days if the organism is being treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy.

Keywords: dendritic cell immunotherapy, breast cancer, active immunotherapy.

INTRODUÇÃO: O câncer é uma doença complexa, pois é capaz de inibir a resposta imune por meio de mecanismos de escape tumoral. **OBJETIVO:** analisar a dinâmica do sistema imunológico durante o tratamento do câncer com imunoterapia de células dendríticas. Avaliamos a presença de infiltrado tumoral de linfócitos T CD8, fatores de transcrição de linfócitos T CD4 no baço desses animais, o desenvolvimento do volume tumoral e o comportamento de moléculas coestimulatórias. **MÉTODOS:** 70 camundongos Balb/c fêmeas foram divididos em grupos experimental e controle, avaliados no 7º e 14º dias após o desafio tumoral e imunoterapia com células dendríticas. **RESULTADOS:** Moléculas como a T-bet, mostraram uma expressão aumentada no grupo de tumor tratado. Nossos resultados também demonstraram a maior IMF de infiltrado de linfócitos T CD8 + nos grupos tratados. Assim, há uma maior MFI de moléculas coestimulatórias protumorais, como CTLA4, nos grupos não tratados. **CONCLUSÃO:** o sistema imune é capaz de modular uma resposta imune contra o tumor em 14 dias se o organismo estiver sendo tratado com imunoterapia com células dendríticas.

Palavras-chave: imunoterapia com células dendríticas, câncer de mama, imunoterapia ativa.

INTRODUCTION

Immunotherapies are therapies that have the function of activating the immune

system against an infection, and in a case of cancer, immunotherapy aims to activate the

immune system previously inhibited by tumor escape mechanisms ¹. Immunotherapies are being highlighted in research in recent years precisely because they are as effective as conventional therapies and have minimal side effects when compared to conventional therapies ^{1–3}. Among a plenty of immunotherapies, there are passive immunotherapies such as the immune checkpoint blockade ⁴ and active immunotherapies such as the use of adoptive T cell therapy ⁵, dendritic cell vaccination ⁶, and others.

The immune surveillance theory postulates that the body's own cells verify the body looking for infections that can be combated ⁷. Once the tumor formation is an inflammatory process, the concept of Immunoediting divides immune response to tumors into three phases: recognition, where the cells of the immune system recognize tumor development and destroy tumor cells ⁷. The equilibrium phase, where a group of cells with potential to become cancer are in anergy state, so they do not induce immune response and do not present cancer characteristics ^{8,9}. Finally the escape phase, where the anergic state cells begin an unregulated division, thus presenting high tumorigenic potential, also called tumor escape mechanisms. These mechanisms are different ways that the tumor can circumvent the immune response in order to keep growing ^{7–9}.

In an ideal immune response against cancer, tumor antigens are processed in small peptides into antigen presenting cells and presented via MHC molecule to T lymphocytes ¹⁰. T lymphocytes are divided in two classes, CD8+ T lymphocytes and CD4+ T lymphocytes. CD8+ T lymphocytes, also known as cytotoxic T lymphocytes, have the function of first recognizing the antigen presented via MHCI and then destroying the cell that presented that antigen ¹¹. CD4+ T lymphocytes recognize the antigen presented via MHCII and, when activated, the cell modulates the immune response by producing cytokines that will lead the immune response to fight against the presented antigen ¹².

Cancer is seen as a complex disease because it inhibits the immune response through tumor escape mechanisms. Among these mechanisms, it is possible to cite the tumor ability of the producing soluble mediators that contribute tumor development such as immunosuppressive cytokines, metalloproteinases, and vascular growth factors ¹³. Another tumor escape mechanism is the suppression of the immune response through the suppression of the MHCI, thus preventing tumor cells from being destroyed by CD8+ T lymphocytes ¹⁴. Dendritic cells are used in active immunotherapies because they are also antigen-presenting cells ^{15,16}. They are able to process and present antigens both via MHCI and MHCII without being destroyed by CD8 + T lymphocytes, which is a mechanism called cross-presentation ¹⁷.

It is extremely important to understand the mechanisms of action of dendritic cells in immunotherapies and the mechanisms triggered by it, so researchers will be able to develop new and better protocols for differentiation and maturation of dendritic cells *in vitro* in order to improve dendritic cell immunotherapy quality ¹⁸.

OBJECTIVE

Our aim is to evaluate the immune response against breast cancer in mice submitted to dendritic cells immunotherapy and also understand how long it takes to a modulation of the immune response towards tumor control and reduction of tumor volume by performing techniques such as immunofluorescence and qPCR.

In order to do this, immunofluorescence will evaluate the presence of tumor infiltrate and also the presence of co-stimulatory molecules in lymphoid organs. In addition, CD8+ will be stained in tumors while CD3+, CD152 (CTLA4), and IA (MHCI) will be stained in lymph nodes. Furthermore, it is going to be evaluated if dendritic cells immunotherapy plays a role on the differentiation of auxiliary T lymphocytes to Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg profiles through qPCR expression assessment of transcription factors T-bet, GATA3, ROR_Yt, and FOXP3, respectively.

METHODOLOGY

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

The experiment used 88 female Balb/c mice, aged 6 to 8 weeks, from the sectoral vivarium of IPON - Oncology Research Institute. The animals were housed in cages (dimensions - 305x198x133mm), grouped in no more than 5 animals per cage, separated into different experimental groups, being subjected to environments with light/dark cycle (12h), controlled temperature around 22 ° C, +/- 2 ° C, with food and water *ad libitum*. Of these 88 mice, 70 were divided into the experimental groups described below:

GI- Control group consisting of 10 animals. This group was not induced to tumor development by the 4T1 breast tumor cell line and was also not treated with a dendritic cell vaccine;

GII - Dendritic Cell Vaccine Group, consisting of 20 animals that were not induced to tumor development by the 4T1 cell line, but were submitted to the dendritic cell vaccination protocol;

GIII - Tumor Group without treatment with dendritic cell vaccine, this group consists of 20 animals that were induced to tumor development by the 4T1 cell line, but were not submitted to the dendritic cell vaccination protocol.

GIV - Tumor Group Treated with Dendritic Cell Vaccine, consisting of 20 animals that were induced to tumor development by the 4T1 cell line and also submitted to a dendritic cell vaccination protocol.

The 4T1 cells were maintained in complete RPMI media in a CO2 incubator with 5% humidity at 37°C. For transplants, cells were removed from the incubator, washed twice with saline and centrifuged for 10 min. at 290g at 4°C. Then they were injected with a 13x4.5 syringe in the left breast of each animal with a transplant of 2.0 x 10^5 4T1 cells in 50 µL of solution. From day 7 the tumor of animals in groups submitted to developing a breast tumor was measured at least every three days. The tumor volume was determined using the following formula (Carlsson G et. al; 1983):

[largest diameter <u>x</u> (smallest diameter)²]

2

The remaining 18 animals were used to make dendritic cell vaccines. For each 1 euthanized animal, 4 doses of dendritic cell vaccine were made. In this way the 18 animals produced sufficient doses of dendritic cell vaccine to vaccinate the 40 animals in groups GII and GIV. For the production of vaccines applied in GII (Dendritic Cell Vaccine Group) and GIV (Tumor Group treated with Dendritic Cell Vaccine) cells were removed from the bone marrow of femurs and tibiae.

The removed cells were then placed in 25cm^2 flasks (volume 7.5 ml) in an amount of 32.5×10^6 per flask, with supplemented IMDM culture medium. Under stimuli of GM-CSF (13µL; 10ng / µL), IL-4 (13µL; 10ng / µL), TNF- α (23 µL; 10ng / µL) and tumor antigen of 4T1 cells (23µL), the cells were differentiated into dendritic cells.

Subsequently, the groups were subdivided into other groups in which animals were euthanized seven days after the first dose of dendritic cell vaccine and other groups where the animals were euthanized 14 days after the first dose of dendritic cell vaccine. In this way, the total amount of groups increased from 4 to 7 groups: GI (control group), GII (control group dendritic cells 7 days), GII (tumor group 7 days), GIV (tumor group dendritic cells 7 days), GV (control group dendritic cells 14 days) , GVI (tumor group 14 days) and GVII (tumor group dendritic cells 14 days).

Therefore, on the 7th day of the experimental period, animals related to the groups GI, GII, GIII and GIV were euthanized, the other animals related to the groups GV, GVI and GVII were euthanized on the 14th day of the experimental period. The results obtained were verified and analyzed by the GraphPad Prism 5.0 software.

IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE

The following protocol was used for immunofluorescence staining of tumors and lymph nodes. The sample previously frozen in tissue-tek is taken to the immunofluorescence sector where it is thawed and placed in a mold, it is filled with TISSUE TEK and the sample to be frozen is placed. This mold with TISSUE TEK and the fragment to be analyzed are placed in liquid nitrogen for 4 minutes. Once frozen, the sample must not be defrosted.

The TISSUE TEK block frozen with the sample was taken to the cryostat. The block was placed in the holder using TISSUE TEK. The cryostat was at a temperature of -24°C, if it reached -20°C the block would start to thaw, impairing its handling and cutting.

Due to the temperature difference, the cut $(5\mu m)$ adheres to the blade at room temperature. After cutting, we used a 30% methanol solution to fix the cut on the blade for 10 minutes. We washed the slide 10 times with PBS previously prepared with monobasic potassium phosphate, bi-basic sodium phosphate, sodium chloride. We then followed the staining that was done in a dark vat in order to preserve the antibodies from direct light exposure, which can impair the reading of the slide. We placed the antibody (variable volume) and incubated for 120 minutes. We washed 10 times with PBS. To

cover the coverslips, 3% glycerol was used. The markings performed were as follows: CD11a PE, CD49d PE, CD102 PE and CD54 PE.

qPCR

Part of the spleen was stored in trizol and RNA was subsequently extracted. The cDNA obtained from the RNA using the GoScript TM Reverse Transcription System kit, according to the manufacturer's protocol, was subjected to a qPCR reaction to check the gene expression of the following transcription factors: T-bet, GATA-3, FOXP3 and ROR γ t. For the same samples, the endogenous control used was β -actin. The pre-assembled primers are:

		ANNEALING TEMPERATURE
GENE	PRIMERS	(CELSIUS)
T-BET		
FORWARD	5'-TCAACCAGCACCAGACAGAG-3'	
T-BET		
REVERSE	5'-AAACATCCTGTAATGGCTTGTG-3'	65
GATA3		
FORWARD	5'-TTATCAAGCCCAAGCGAAG-3'	
GATA3	5'-TGGTGGTGGTCTGACAGTTC-3'	
REVERSE	5-1001001001001010.c.x0110-5	65
RORyt		
FORWARD	5'-ATGGACAGGGCCCCACACAGAGA-3'	
RORyt		
REVERSE	5'CAAGTTCAGGACGCCTGGTTTCCTC-3'	58
Foxp3		
FORWARD	5'-ACTGCTGGCAAATGGAGTCT-3'	
Foxp3	5'-AAGTAGGCGAACATGCGAGT-3'	
REVERSE		61
β-ACTIN		
FORWARD	5'TGTGATGGTGGGAATGGGTCAG 3'	
β-ACTIN		
REVERSE	5'-TTTGATGTCACGCACGATTTCC-3'	65

TABLE 1 – Genes used for qPCR assay. Nucleotide sequence and annealing temperature for each primer.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data obtained were analyzed using the GraphPad Prism 5 software. Kolmogorovsmirnov and Shapiro-wilk normality tests were carried out, if the results passed the normality tests, ANOVA and T test parametric tests were performed, if they did not pass the normality tests, non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney tests were chosen. Tests with a result of p <0.0001 were considered statistically significant. For the correlations, normality tests and Pearson or Spearman correlation were performed.

RESULTS

Dendritic cell vaccine in the activation of T lymphocytes

Our results demonstrated that the mean fluorescence intensity of cells with CD3 in the lymph nodes among all experimental groups is the highest in the control group DC 7 days (76.49 - 116) 92.8, followed by the tumor group 7 days (55.63 - 98.73) 74.45 with a statistical difference of p <0.05 between the two groups. When comparing the groups Tumor 14 days (68.25 - 78.92) 71.99 and Tumor Treated 14 days (67.66 - 78.36) 71.27, we did not notice any statistically significant difference. When comparing CD3 + in the Treated Tumor and Tumor groups, we noticed that in 7 days the MFI is higher in the Tumor group (55.63 - 98.73) 74.45 when compared to the Treated Tumor group (47.20 - 53.20) 49 , 33. In 14 days, we noticed that MFI levels are close when we compare the Tumor group (68.25 - 78.92) 71.99 to the Treated Tumor group (67.66 - 78.36) 71.27.

In terms of the CD8+ cells in the tumor, we noticed the highest MFI in the Tumor Treated 14 days (740.6 - 1347) 1123 when compared to the other groups. When comparing the group Tumor 14 days (544.9 - 1873) 544.9, there is a statistically significant difference with a value of p < 0.0001. When comparing the CD8+ MFI kinetics in the tumors from treated and untreated groups, we noticed first that the Treated Tumor group had a higher MFI when compared to the Tumor group in 7 days and second, the Treated Tumor group had a higher MFI when compared to the Tumor group in 14 days.



FIGURE 1 – Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) of CD3+ cells in lymph nodes with immunofluorescence technique. (A) represents MFI of CD3+ cells in experimental groups. C= control group, CDC= control dendritic cell group, DCG= dendritic cell group. (B) representation of the kinetics involving MFI of CD3 + cells in the tumor and tumor DC groups from 7 to 14 days after the first dose of dendritic cell immunotherapy. **** represents the value of p < 0.0001.

Activation of co-stimulatory molecules

CTLA-4 or C152 is known as a co-stimulatory molecule holding an inhibitory role. It was performed a correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of this molecule in the lymph nodes. Our results demonstrate that the treated groups show a negative correlation, wherein the Tumor group DC 7 days (r = -0.7826) and the Tumor

group DC 14 days (r = -0.4472). This means that the greater the presence of CTLA4, the lower the tumor volume in both groups. In groups without any treatment, for both 7 and 14 days, there is a positive correlation for the Tumor group 7 days(r = 0.2236) and the Tumor group 14 days (r = 0.2236), which means that the greater the tumor volume, the greater the presence of co-stimulatory molecules. The presence of dendritic cell immunotherapy can unbalance this correlation.

LYMPHONODE CTLA4 vs TUMORAL VOLUME



FIGURE 2 - **Spearman's correlation showing the correlation between tumor development and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the experimental groups.** (A) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the tumor group 7 days. (B) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the DC tumor group 7 days. (C) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the tumor group 7 days. (D) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the tumor group 14 days. (D) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes of the tumor group 14 days.

In order to evaluate an essential molecule in the activation of cells such as CD8+ T lymphocytes, we performed a correlation between the MFI of MHCI in lymph nodes and the tumor infiltrate of CD8+ T lymphocytes. The treated tumor groups, for both 7 and 14 days, present an r=1,000 and therefore a strong positive correlation. It indicates that the greater the presence of tumor infiltrate of CD8 + T lymphocytes, the greater the presence of MHC molecules in the lymph nodes. In the untreated tumor groups, we noticed an r = 1,000 and a strong positive correlation in 7 days, which indicates that the greater the presence of CD8+ T lymphocyte infiltrate in the tumor, the greater the presence of MHCI in the lymph nodes. This strong positive correlation turns into a

negative correlation with a r = -0.02000 in 14 days, thus suggesting that the immune system needs this time to modulate its immune response against many pro-tumor stimuli.





FIGURE 3 - Mean Fluorescence Intensity (MFI) of CD8 + cells in tumors using the immunofluorescence technique. (A) represents the MFI of CD8 + cells in the tumors of the tumor groups 7 days, tumor treated 7 days, tumor 14 days and tumor treated 14 days, respectively. (B) kinetic

representation involving the MFI of CD8 + cells in the tumor and tumor DC groups from 7 to 14 days after the first dose of dendritic cell immunotherapy. **** represents the value of p < 0.0001.



Lymphonode MHCI vs Tumor CD8

FIGURE 4 - Spearman correlation showing the correlation between tumor development and the presence of CD8 + in the tumors of the experimental groups. (A) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CD8 + in the tumors of the tumor group 7 days. (B) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CD8 + in the tumors of the DC tumor group 7 days. (C) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CD8 + in the tumors of the tumors of the tumor group 14 days. (D) represents the correlation between the tumor volume and the presence of CD8 + in the tumor volume and the presence of CD8 + in the tumors of the tumor group 14 days.

The presence of transcription factors of cd4+ t lymphocyte and tumor volume

T-bet, the main transcription factor responsible for CD4+ T lymphocytes differentiation into lymphocytes of Th1 profile, demonstrated its highest expression in spleens from the Control group dendritic cells, where it is 6 times more expressed in the Control group dendritic cell when compared to Control group. In a comparison of T-bet in the Tumor group and Treated Tumor group, we noticed a higher final T-bet expression in the Tumor group CD compared to the Tumor group.

GATA3, the transcription factor responsible for the differentiation of CD4 lymphocytes into Th2 profile cells, is about 10 times more expressed in the tumor group without treatment in 14 days while the same transcription factor is about 8 times more

expressed in the tumor group 7 days. We note that the greatest expression of GATA3 is found in tumor groups without treatment.

ROR γ t is the main transcription factor responsible for the differentiation of CD4 + T lymphocytes into Th17 profile lymphocytes. Our results showed that the greatest expression of this transcription factor was also found in the tumor groups without treatment both in 7 and 14 days. In the tumor group 7 days the transcription factor is about 8 times more expressed when compared to the tumor group and in the tumor group 14 days the same transcription factor is about 10 times more expressed when compared to the control group.

FOXP3, an essential transcription factor for the differentiation of T lymphocytes into Treg lymphocytes, is about 20 times more expressed in the tumor group 14 days when compared to the tumor group. In the 7-day tumor group, the same transcription factor is about 5 times more expressed when compared to the control group. When we analyze the kinetics of FOXP3 in the groups at 7 and 14 days we noticed that the greatest increase in the expression of this transcription factor is in the tumor group, going from about 5 times more expressed in the tum or group in 7 days to about 20 times more expressed in the tumor group in 14 days.



FIGURE 5 - graphical representation of the kinetics involving the main transcription factors of T lymphocytes from 7 to 14 days after the first dose of immunotherapy with dendritic cells. (A) graphical

representation of the $\delta\delta$ CT of the transcription factor T-bet in the control groups DC, tumor and tumor DC from 7 to 14 days. (B) graphical representation of the $\delta\delta$ CT of the transcription factor GATA3 in the control groups DC, tumor and tumor DC from 7 to 14 days. (C) graphical representation of the $\delta\delta$ CT of the transcription factor ROR γ t in the control groups DC, tumor and tumor DC from 7 to 14 days. (D) graphical representation of the $\delta\delta$ CT of the FOXP3 transcription factor in the DC, tumor and DC tumor groups from 7 to 14 days.

Given the aforementioned molecular data relating immunotherapy to a better antitumor immune response, we also measured the tumors of animals in the experimental groups. Our results show that in 7 days there is no difference between the tumor volume of the tumor group and the tumor volume of the tumor group treated with DC. At 14 days there is a great difference between the tumor volume of the two groups analyzed. The tumor volume is higher on average in the tumor group when compared to the tumor group treated with DC with a value of p <0.0001, a statistically significant result.



FIGURE 6 - Tumor development in experimental groups induced to develop breast tumor with 4T1 cells in 7 and 14 days. Balb/c mice were induced to develop breast tumor from 4T1 cells. Part of these animals was treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy, the so-called DC tumor group and another group received no treatment at all. The graph shows the development of tumors in these groups 7 days after the first dose of dendritic cell immunotherapy and 14 days after the first dose of dendritic cell immunotherapy. **** represents the value of p < 0.0001.

DISCUSSION

In lymphocyte activation, it is known that CD3 associates to TCR and aids the activation of T lymphocytes. Our results showed that in lymph nodes, the lymphoid organ activates lymphocytes, there is a higher MFI of CD3 in the Tumor group when compared to the Treated Tumor group 7 days. In 14 days, MFI is similar in the Tumor group and Treated Tumor group, thus demonstrating there are CD4 or CD8 T lymphocytes differentiation in lymph nodes of the Treated group in 14 day. In a prospective analysis, it was found that nonresponsive patients to CD3 in the lymph nodes had a greater recurrence of head and neck tumors when compared to the group of responsive patients ¹⁸, thus demonstrating the importance of the molecule in the immune response to tumors.

CD8 is associated with cytotoxic T lymphocytes, therefore showing cytotoxic function against tumor cells ¹⁹. It is known that the presence of tumor infiltrate of cytotoxic T lymphocytes is a sign of good prognosis in the course of several types of cancers ^{1,20,21}. In the analyzed tumors, our results showed the highest MFI of CD8 T lymphocyte in the Treated Tumor group 14 days when compared to other groups. By analysing the tumors in 7 days, we noticed that the infiltrate of CD8 T lymphocytes is similar in both the Tumor group and in the Treated Tumor group with dendritic cell vaccine. It demonstrates that 14 days are sufficient for CD8 T lymphocytes differentiation and activation by dendritic cell immunotherapy.

CTLA4 is associated with a poor prognosis in the development of cancer. It is known that CTLA4 is a co-stimulatory molecule and has an immunosuppressive role through several mechanisms, such as: competition with CD28 during the lymphocyte activation process ²². Checkpoint blockers are already well described and even used as a treatment for cancer, such as ipilimumab, which is an antibody that blocks the binding site of CTLA4, thus preventing it from exerting its immunosuppressive function ²³. A study demonstrated that CTLA4 blockade combined with immunotherapy prolonged CD8 T lymphocyte cell activity without the need to stimulate proliferation with IL-2 ²⁴. Our results demonstrated that in an analysis of tumor development versus CTLA4 MFI in lymph nodes, there is a positive correlation in the Tumor group 14 days, which means that the greater the tumor volume, the greater the MFI of CTLA4 in the lymph nodes. As previously

shown, the dendritic cell vaccine induces a fight against the tumor by decreasing its volume in the Treated groups.

Due to its immunosuppressive role, it is known that CTLA-4 is associated with a poor prognosis in several types of cancers ²⁵. CTLA-4 blockade is already used as immunotherapy, so it was suspected that blocking this molecule could also potentiate the immune response. Suspicion confirmed in a work published in 2019 ²⁶. This result is in agreement with the work published in 2020 ²⁷, and we can correlate these data with our results which demonstrate that the dendritic cell vaccine has the potential to inhibit CTLA-4 MFI due to the fact that the tumor group treated with dendritic cells present higher CTLA-4 MFI in 7 days and in 14 days MFI has decreased, thus increasing the potential for tumor destruction by dendritic cells.

It is well described that lymphocytes are activated in the secondary lymphoid organs by dendritic cells. In the case of CD8 T lymphocytes, after interaction of the MHCI of the antigen presenting cells with their TCR, they migrate to the infection site to execute their effector function, which is to destroy cells that have known antigen in their MHCI ²⁸. CD8 T lymphocytes are part of the adaptive immune response, therefore more specific, one of the reasons why this cell type is essential in the immune response against cancer ²⁹.

Several studies demonstrate that the tumor infiltrate of CD8 T lymphocytes and the presence of this cell type is a sign of a good prognosis for the cancer patient ^{30,31}. Our results demonstrated in the analyzed lymph nodes of the tumor group in 14 days that the lower the MFI of MHCI in the lymph nodes, the lower the MFI of CD8 lymphocytes in the tumor with a negative correlation demonstrating the inability of the immune system to fight the tumor without stimulation. When we analyzed the tumor group treated with dendritic cell immunotherapy, we obtained a strong correlation with r = 1 when we analyzed the CD8 MFI in tumors vs MHCI MFI in lymph nodes, demonstrating that immunotherapy positively stimulated T lymphocyte activation CD8 in 14 days. Result that is repeated in the tumor group treated when MFI analysis of TCR in lymph nodes vs MFI of CD8 in tumors.

Among the transcription factors that act during an immune response to cancer, we can mention the T-bet, which is the main transcription factor related to the cell profile Th1, a profile responsible for an ideal immune response against tumor cells³². Among the

transcription factors described in the early 2000s ³³, it is now known that the expression of t-bet by helper T lymphocytes induces the production of cytokines such as IFN- γ and IL-12. IFN- γ induces greater differentiation in T lymphocytes in Th1 lymphocytes and inhibition of Th2 profile, in macrophages it induces differentiation in M1, increases the maturation of dendritic cells and the expression of costimulatory molecules and inhibits the differentiation of regulatory T lymphocytes ³⁴. Our results demonstrated that the behavior of T-bet in immunotherapy with dendritic cells increased from 7 to 14 days in the treated tumor group and in the tumor group the opposite behavior, suggesting that from 14 days on we can start to notice improvements in the behavior of the immune system in combating tumor cells. Complementing these results, we note what is well described in the literature, that T-bet has an opposite behavior or an equilibrium behavior with GATA3³⁵ : from 7 to 14 days T-bet increases in the treated tumor group and GATA3 decreases in the same group and in the tumor group, T-bet decreases and GATA3 increases from 7 to 14 days.

It has been shown that for the development of regulatory T cells, the activation of the FOXP3 transcription factor is sufficient in mice ³⁶. It is known that for the activation of the proinflammatory Th17 profile, the main transcription factor is ROR γ T ³⁷. The profile of Th17 cells plays a controversial role in the immune response to tumors, sometimes fighting tumor development, and other times contributing to tumor development ³⁸. However, the role of the regulatory T profile has been well described and it is known that cells of this profile have a pro-tumor role in the immune response to cancer, with its markers being successful targets in immunotherapies against cancer ^{23,39}. Our results demonstrated that in 14 days of dendritic cell immunotherapy the gene expression of FOXP3 did not change in the treated tumor group, but in the tumor group without treatment there was a great increase in the genetic expression of FOXP3. Considering ROR γ T, our results showed that in 14 days in the treated tumor group without treatment there was, as well as FOXP3, a great increase.

CONCLUSION

Our results demonstrate that 14 days of immunotherapies with dendritic cells are sufficient for modulation of the immune system. The levels of great prognostic markers such as T-bet and infiltrate of CD8 T lymphocytes increase when compared to bad prognostic markers such as FOXP3, CTLA4 among other studied markers. In practice, we note these results by assessing the tumor volume where we notice a significant difference in tumor volume between the tumor group and the treated tumor group. In general, immunotherapy of dendritic cells gives the treated mice a good prognosis in the fight against cancer and this immunotherapy should be studied more thoroughly, so that in the near future it can be used as a base treatment in most diverse cancers.

1

2 **REFERENCES**

Zhang Y, Zhang Z. The history and advances in cancer immunotherapy: 3 1. understanding the characteristics of tumor-infiltrating immune cells and their 4 therapeutic implications. Cell Mol Immunol [Internet]. 2020;8:807-21. Available 5 from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0488-6 6 7 2. Kaufman HL, Atkins MB, Subedi P, Wu J, Chambers J, Joseph Mattingly T, et 8 al. The promise of Immuno-oncology: Implications for defining the value of 9 cancer treatment. J Immunother Cancer. 2019;7:1–11. 3. Riley RS, June CH, Langer R, Mitchell MJ. Delivery technologies for cancer 10 immunotherapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2019;18:175-96. 11 Lee JY, Lee HT, Shin W, Chae J, Choi J, Kim SH, et al. Structural basis of 12 4. 13 checkpoint blockade by monoclonal antibodies in cancer immunotherapy. Nat Commun [Internet]. 2016;7:1–10. Available from: 14 15 http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13354 5. Perica K, Varela JC, Oelke M, Schneck J. Adoptive T Cell Immunotherapy For 16 Cancer. Rambam Maimonides Med J. 2015;6:4. 17 Calmeiro J, Carrascal MA, Tavares AR, Ferreira DA, Gomes C, Falcão A, et al. 18 6. Dendritic cell vaccines for cancer immunotherapy: The role of human 19 conventional type 1 dendritic cells. Pharmaceutics. 2020;12:1–20. 20 Ribatti D. The concept of immune surveillance against tumors. The first theories. 21 7. Oncotarget. 2017;8:7175-80. 22 23 8. O'Donnell JS, Teng MWL, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting and resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2019;16:151-67. 24 9. 25 Swann JB, Smyth MJ. Review series Immune surveillance of tumors. J Clin Invest. 2007;117:1137-46. 26 27 10. Comber JD, Philip R. MHC class I antigen presentation and implications for 28 developing a new generation of therapeutic vaccines. Ther Adv Vaccines. 2014;2:77-89. 29 30 11. Andersen MH, Schrama D, Thor Straten P, Becker JC. Cytotoxic T cells. J Invest Dermatol [Internet]. 2006;126:32–41. Available from: 31 32 http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5700001 12. Goadsby PJ, Kurth T, Pressman A. Present Yourself! By MHC Class I and MHC 33 34 Class II Molecules. Trends Immunol. 2016;35:1252-60.

35	13.	Landskron G, De La Fuente M, Thuwajit P, Thuwajit C, Hermoso MA. Chronic
36		inflammation and cytokines in the tumor microenvironment. J Immunol Res.
37		2014;2014.
38	14.	Messerschmidt JL, Prendergast GC, Messerschmidt GL. How Cancers Escape
39		Immune Destruction and Mechanisms of Action for the New Significantly Active
40		Immune Therapies: Helping Nonimmunologists Decipher Recent Advances.
41		Oncologist. 2016;21:233–43.
42	15.	Butterfield LH. Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy clinical trials: Are we
43		making progress? Front Immunol. 2013;4:3-9.
44	16.	Geijtenbeek TBH, Gringhuis SI. Dendritic Cell Immunotherapy, the Next Step in
45		Cancer Treatment. Multidiscip Cancer Investig. 2017;1:465–79.
46	17.	Breckpot K, Escors D. Dendritic Cells for Active Anti-Cancer Immunotherapy:
47		Targeting Activation Pathways Through Genetic Modification. Endocrine, Metab
48		Immune Disord - Drug Targets. 2012;9:328–43.
49	18.	Shibuya TY, Nugyen N, McLaren CE, Li KT, Wei WZ, Kim S, et al. Clinical
50		significance of poor CD3 response in head and neck cancer. Clin Cancer Res.
51		2002;8:745–51.
52	19.	Tian CT, Lu SX, Fan QX, Zhang WJ, Jiao SC, Zhao X, et al. Prognostic
53		significance of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ or CD3+ T lymphocytes and interleukin-
54		2 expression in radically resected non-small cell lung cancer. Chin Med J (Engl).
55		2015;128:105–10.
56	20.	Al-Saleh K, El-Aziz NA, Ali A, Abozeed W, El-Warith AA, Ibraheem A, et al.
57		Predictive and prognostic significance of CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in
58		patients with luminal B/HER 2 negative breast cancer treated with neoadjuvant
59		chemotherapy. Oncol Lett. 2017;14:337-44.
60	21.	Shimizu S, Hiratsuka H, Koike K, Tsuchihashi K, Sonoda T, Ogi K, et al.
61		Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T-cell density is an independent prognostic marker for
62		oral squamous cell carcinoma. Cancer Med. 2019;8:80–93.
63	22.	Zhao Y, Yang W, Huang Y, Cui R, Li X, Li B. Evolving Roles for Targeting
64		CTLA-4 in Cancer Immunotherapy. Cell Physiol Biochem. 2018;47:721–34.
65	23.	Callahan MK, Postow MA, Wolchok JD. CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathway Blockade:
66		Combinations in the Clinic. Front Oncol. 2015;4:1–6.
67	24.	Sckisel GD, Mirsoian A, Bouchlaka MN, Tietze JK, Chen M, Blazar BR, et al.
68		Late administration of murine CTLA-4 blockade prolongs CD8-mediated anti-

69		tumor effects following stimulatory cancer immunotherapy. Cancer Immunol
70		Immunother. 2015;64:1541–52.
71	25.	Santoni G, Amantini C, Morelli MB, Tomassoni D, Santoni M, Marinelli O, et al.
72		High CTLA-4 expression correlates with poor prognosis in thymoma patients.
73		Oncotarget. 2018;9:16665–77.
74	26.	Neeha Zaidi, Sergio A. Quezada, Janelle M.Y. Kuroiwa1, Li Zhang, Elizabeth M.
75		Jaffee, Ralph M. Steinman and BW. Anti-CTLA-4 synergizes with dendritic
76		cell-targeted vaccine to promote IL-3-dependent CD4+ effector T cell
77		infiltration into murine pancreatic tumors. 2019;1445:62-73.
78	27.	Esmaily M, Masjedi A, Hallaj S, Nabi Afjadi M, Malakotikhah F, Ghani S, et al.
79		Blockade of CTLA-4 increases anti-tumor response inducing potential of
80		dendritic cell vaccine. J Control Release [Internet]. 2020;326:63-74. Available
81		from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2020.06.017
82	28.	Mondino A, Khoruts A, Jenkins MK. The anatomy of T-cell activation and
83		tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:2245-52.
84	29.	Farhood B, Najafi M, Mortezaee K. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in cancer
85		immunotherapy: A review. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234:8509–21.
86	30.	Oshi M, Asaoka M, Tokumaru Y, Yan L, Matsuyama R, Ishikawa T, et al. CD8
87		T cell score as a prognostic biomarker for triple negative breast cancer. Int J Mol
88		Sci. 2020;21:1–16.
89	31.	Kim SH, Go S II, Song DH, Park SW, Kim HR, Jang I, et al. Prognostic impact
90		of CD8 and programmed death-ligand 1 expression in patients with resectable
91		non-small cell lung cancer. Br J Cancer. 2019;120:547–54.
92	32.	Mori H, Kubo M, Kai M, Yamada M, Kurata K, Kawaji H, et al. T-bet+
93		lymphocytes infiltration as an independent better prognostic indicator for triple-
94		negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat [Internet]. 2019;176:569-77.
95		Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-019-05256-2
96	33.	Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH, et al. A
97		Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment.
98		2000;100:655–69.
99	34.	Jorgovanovic D, Song M, Wang L, Zhang Y. Roles of IFN-yin tumor progression
100		and regression: A review. Biomark Res. 2020;8:1-16.
101	35.	Ylikoski E, Lund R, Kyläniemi M, Filén S, Kilpeläinen M, Savolainen J, et al.
102		IL-12 up-regulates T-bet independently of IFN- γ in human CD4+ T cells. Eur J

103		Immunol. 2005;35:3297–306.
104	36.	Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and
105		function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Immunol. 2003;198:986–92.
106	37.	Chen Z, Lin F, Gao Y, Li Z, Zhang J, Xing Y, et al. FOXP3 and RORyt:
107		Transcriptional regulation of Treg and Th17. Int Immunopharmacol.
108		2011;11:536–42.
109	38.	Dahal LN. The dichotomy of T helper 17 cells in cancer. Nat Rev Immunol
110		[Internet]. 2017;17:592. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.93
111	39.	Ohue Y, Nishikawa H. Regulatory T (Treg) cells in cancer: Can Treg cells be a
112		new therapeutic target? Cancer Sci. 2019;110:2080-9.
113		
114		
115		
116		
117		
118		
119		
120		
121		
122		
123		
124		
125		
126		
127		
128		
129		
130		
131		
132		
133		
134		
135		
136		

137 6. CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS

Descritas em 1974 as células dendríticas que fazem a ponte entre a resposta imune inata e adaptativa. Com relação as imunoterapias de células dendríticas, no início do ano 2000 vários grupos iniciaram pesquisas sobre o potencial das células dendríticas em combater vários tipos de canceres.

142 As células dendríticas apresentam a capacidade de modular a resposta 143 imunológica frente ao estímulo recebido. Caso o antígeno fagocitado por elas seja um 144 parasita elas modulam a resposta imune para combate a parasitas, nesta resposta são ativados linfócitos T do perfil Th2. Caso o antígeno fagocitado seja um imunógeno 145 com potencial inflamatório significativo são ativados linfócitos de perfil Th17, por fim 146 caso o antígeno seja um antígeno intracelular são ativados linfócitos do perfil Th1. Os 147 linfócitos Th1 modulas a resposta imune para o combate dos antígenos intracelulares 148 149 e ativam células que reconhecem células infectadas como linfócitos T CD8, células NK e a produção de citocinas que potencializam a ação destas células como IL-12 e 150 IFN-γ. 151

Ao longo dos anos 2000 vários trabalhos demonstraram a eficácia da imunoterapia com células dendríticas em combate a vários tipos de câncer. Algumas poucas pesquisas foram feitas na tentativa de entender em qual momento a imunoterapia com células dendríticas modulava a resposta imune em combate ao tumor. São necessários mais estudos com a intenção de entender e verificar melhor outros parâmetros da resposta imunológica que são alterados durante a imunoterapia de células dendríticas

- 158
- 159
- 160
- 161
- 162
- 163
- 164

165

166

167 7. CONCLUSÕES

Demonstramos com este trabalho que as células dendríticas já conhecidas pelo seu potencial em combate aos tumores tem a capacidade de modular a resposta imunológica em favor ao combate tumoral em 14 dias. Em 7 dias pode-se perceber a mudança de alguns parâmetros da resposta imunológica, porem em 14 dias a mudança de parâmetros importantes são evidentes.

Demonstramos mais uma vez que a imunoterapia com células dendríticas é eficaz
contra o desenvolvimento tumoral além de demonstrar a mudança de parâmetros da
resposta imunológica.

176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207

208
209 8. REFERÊNCIAS

- AKDIS, M. et al. Interleukins, from 1 to 37, and interferon- γ : receptors, functions, and
- roles in diseases. **The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology**, v. 127, n. 3, p.
- 212 701-21.e1-70, mar. 2011.
- AL-SALEH, K. et al. Predictive and prognostic significance of CD8+ tumor-infiltrating
- 214 lymphocytes in patients with luminal B/HER 2 negative breast cancer treated with
- neoadjuvant chemotherapy. **Oncology Letters**, v. 14, n. 1, p. 337–344, 2017.
- 216 ALAM, A. Chemotherapy Treatment and Strategy Schemes: A Review. Open Access
- **Journal of Toxicology**, v. 2, n. 5, 2018.
- ALVES, J. J. P. et al. Th17 response in patients with cervical cancer. Oncology Letters,
- 219 v. 16, n. 5, p. 6215–6227, 2018.
- 220 ANDERSEN, M. H. et al. Cytotoxic T cells. Journal of Investigative Dermatology, v.
- 221 126, n. 1, p. 32–41, 2006.
- ASNA, N. et al. Radiation therapy and immunotherapy— A potential combination in
- 223 cancer treatment. **Current Oncology**, v. 25, n. 5, p. e454–e460, 2018.
- AZAR, K. K. et al. Increased secretion patterns of interleukin-10 and tumor necrosis
- factor-alpha in cervical squamous intraepithelial lesions. Human pathology, v. 35, n.
- 226 11, p. 1376–84, nov. 2004.
- 227 BANCHEREAU, J.; PALUCKA, A K. Dendritic cells as therapeutic vaccines against
- 228 cancer. Nature reviews. Immunology, v. 5, n. 4, p. 296–306, abr. 2005.
- 229 BARCZYK, M.; CARRACEDO, S.; GULLBERG, D. Integrins. Cell and Tissue
- **Research**, v. 339, n. 1, p. 269–280, 2010.
- 231 BASKAR, R. et al. Cancer and radiation therapy: Current advances and future
- directionsInternational Journal of Medical Sciences, 27 fev. 2012.
- 233 Baskar R, Dai J, Wenlong N, Yeo R, Yeoh KW. Biological response of cancer cells to
- radiation treatment. Front Mol Biosci. 2014 Nov 17;1:24. doi:
- 235 10.3389/fmolb.2014.00024. BENEDICTO, A.; ROMAYOR, I.; ARTETA, B. Role of
- 236 liver ICAM-1 in metastasis. **Oncology Letters**, v. 14, n. 4, p. 3883–3892, 2017.
- BENEVIDES, L. et al. IL17 promotes mammary tumor progression by changing the
- 238 behavior of tumor cells and eliciting tumorigenic neutrophils recruitment. Cancer

- 239 **Research**, v. 75, n. 18, p. 3788–3799, 2015.
- 240 BRECKPOT, K.; ESCORS, D. Dendritic Cells for Active Anti-Cancer Immunotherapy:

241 Targeting Activation Pathways Through Genetic Modification. Endocrine, Metabolic

& Immune Disorders - Drug Targets, v. 9, n. 4, p. 328–343, 2012.

243 BUTTERFIELD, L. H. Dendritic cells in cancer immunotherapy clinical trials: Are we

244 making progress? **Frontiers in Immunology**, v. 4, n. DEC, p. 3–9, 2013.

- 245 CALLAHAN, M. K.; POSTOW, M. A.; WOLCHOK, J. D. CTLA-4 and PD-1 Pathway
- Blockade: Combinations in the Clinic. Frontiers in Oncology, v. 4, n. January, p. 1–6,
 2015.
- 248 CALMEIRO, J. et al. Dendritic cell vaccines for cancer immunotherapy: The role of
- human conventional type 1 dendritic cells. **Pharmaceutics**, v. 12, n. 2, p. 1–20, 2020.
- 250 CARVALHO, D. F. G. et al. High IL-17 expression is associated with an unfavorable
- prognosis in thyroid cancer. **Oncology Letters**, v. 13, n. 3, p. 1925–1931, 2017.
- 252 CHAE, Y. K. et al. Overexpression of adhesion molecules and barrier molecules is
- associated with differential infiltration of immune cells in non-small cell lung cancer.

254 Scientific Reports, v. 8, n. 1, p. 1–10, 2018.

- 255 CHEN, X.; DU, Y.; HUANG, Z. CD4+CD25+ Treg derived from hepatocellular
- carcinoma mice inhibits tumor immunity. Immunology Letters, v. 148, n. 1, p. 83–89,
 2012.
- 258 CHEN, Z. et al. FOXP3 and RORγt: Transcriptional regulation of Treg and Th17.
- **International Immunopharmacology**, v. 11, n. 5, p. 536–542, 2011.
- 260 COHEN, S.; HAIMOVICH, J.; HOLLANDER, N. Anti-idiotype × Anti-LFA-1
- 261 Bispecific Antibodies Inhibit Metastasis of B Cell Lymphoma. The Journal of
- **Immunology**, v. 170, n. 5, p. 2695–2701, 2003.
- 263 COMBER, J. D.; PHILIP, R. MHC class I antigen presentation and implications for
- 264 developing a new generation of therapeutic vaccines. **Therapeutic Advances in**
- **Vaccines**, v. 2, n. 3, p. 77–89, 2014.
- 266 COMRIE, W. A. et al. The dendritic cell cytoskeleton promotes T cell adhesion and
- activation by constraining ICAM-1 mobility. Journal of Cell Biology, v. 208, n. 4, p.

- 268 457–473, 2015.
- 269 CURIEL, T. J. et al. Specific recruitment of regulatory T cells in ovarian carcinoma
- fosters immune privilege and predicts reduced survival. Nature Medicine, v. 10, n. 9,
 p. 942–949, 2004.
- 272 DA CUNHA, A.; MICHELIN, M. A; MURTA, E. F. Pattern response of dendritic cells
- in the tumor microenvironment and breast cancer. World journal of clinical oncology,
- v. 5, n. 3, p. 495–502, 10 ago. 2014.
- 275 DAHAL, L. N. The dichotomy of T helper 17 cells in cancer. Nature Reviews
- **Immunology**, v. 17, n. 9, p. 592, 2017.
- 277 DANDAN XU1,*, GUOLIANG JIN1,*, DAFEI CHAI1, XIAOWAN ZHOU1, WEIYU
- GU1, Y.; CHONG1, J. S. AND J. Z. The development of CAR design for tumor CAR-T
- cell therapy. **Oncotarget, Advance Publications**, v. 1, n. 3, p. 79–89, 2018.
- 280 Davies M. New modalities of cancer treatment for NSCLC: focus on immunotherapy.
- **Cancer Manag Res.** 2014 Feb 3;6:63-75. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S57550. PMID:
- **282** 24520205; PMCID: PMC3917949.
- 283 DE FOUGEROLLES, A. R. et al. Characterization of ICAM-2 and evidence for a third
- counter-receptor for LFA1. Journal of Experimental Medicine, v. 174, n. 1, p. 253–
 267, 1991.
- 286 DE LA PUENTE, P.; AZAB, A. K. Delivery systems for brachytherapy. Journal of
- 287 **Controlled Release**, v. 192, p. 19–28, 2014.
- 288 DEEPAK MITTAL, MATTHEW M GUBIN, ROBERT D SCHREIBER, AND M. J.
- 289 S. Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer
- immunoediting and its three component phases—elimination, equilibrium and escape.
- 291 Current opinion in immunology. 2014 Apr 1;27:16-25. Curr Opin Immunol, v. 27, p.
- **292** 16–25, 2014.
- 293 DONIZY, P. et al. Paucity of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes is an unfavorable
- 294 prognosticator and predicts lymph node metastases in cutaneous melanoma patients.
- **Anticancer Research**, v. 35, n. 1, p. 351–358, 2015.
- 296 DUNN, G. P.; OLD, L. J.; SCHREIBER, R. D. Cancer immunosurveillance and
- 297 immunoediting. **Immunity**, v. 21, p. 137–148, jan. 2004.

- 298 ESMAILY, M. et al. Blockade of CTLA-4 increases anti-tumor response inducing
- potential of dendritic cell vaccine. Journal of Controlled Release, v. 326, p. 63–74,
 2020.
- 301 FAGUET, G. B. A brief history of cancer: Age-old milestones underlying our current
- knowledge database. International Journal of Cancer, v. 136, n. 9, p. 2022–2036,
 2015.
- 304 FARHOOD, B.; NAJAFI, M.; MORTEZAEE, K. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in
- cancer immunotherapy: A review. Journal of Cellular Physiology, v. 234, n. 6, p.
 8509–8521, 2019.
- 307 FEDUSKA, J. M. et al. ICAM-2 confers a non-metastatic phenotype in neuroblastoma
- 308 cells by interaction with α -actinin. **Oncogene**, v. 34, n. 12, p. 1553–1562, 2015.
- 309 FERNÁNDEZ-DELGADO, I.; CALZADA-FRAILE, D.; SÁNCHEZ-MADRID, F.
- 310 Immune regulation by dendritic cell extracellular vesicles in cancer immunotherapy and
- 311 vaccines. **Cancers**, v. 12, n. 12, p. 1–23, 2020.
- 312 FIGENSCHAU, S. L. et al. ICAM1 expression is induced by proinflammatory
- 313 cytokines and associated with TLS formation in aggressive breast cancer subtypes.
- **Scientific Reports**, v. 8, n. 1, p. 1–12, 2018.
- FONTENOT, J. D.; GAVIN, M. A.; RUDENSKY, A. Y. Foxp3 programs the
- development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Journal of Immunology,
- 317 v. 198, n. 3, p. 986–992, 2003.
- 318 FONTENOT, J. D.; GAVIN, M. A.; RUDENSKY, A. Y. Foxp3 programs the
- development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. Journal of Immunology,
- 320 v. 198, n. 3, p. 986–992, 1 fev. 2017.
- 321 FORMENTI, S. C.; DEMARIA, S. Combining radiotherapy and cancer
- immunotherapy: A paradigm shift. Journal of the National Cancer Institute, v. 105,
- 323 n. 4, p. 256–265, 2013.
- 324 Fukao T, Matsuda S, Koyasu S. Synergistic effects of IL-4 and IL-18 on IL-12-
- dependent IFN-gamma production by dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2000 Jan
- 326 1;164(1):64-71. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.164.1.64. PMID: 10604994.
- 327 GAO, D. et al. Autologous tumor lysate-pulsed dendritic cell immunotherapy with

- 328 cytokine-induced killer cells improves survival in gastric and colorectal cancer patients.
- **PloS one**, v. 9, n. 4, p. e93886, jan. 2014.
- 330 GAVIN P. DUNN LLOYD J. OLD, R. D. S. Cancer immunosurveillance and
- immunoediting. **Immunity**, v. 21, p. 137–148, 2004.
- 332 GEIJTENBEEK, T. B. H.; GRINGHUIS, S. I. Dendritic Cell Immunotherapy, the Next
- 333 Step in Cancer Treatment. **Multidisciplinary Cancer Investigation**, v. 1, n. 2, p. 465–
- **334** 479, 2017.
- 335 GOADSBY, P. J.; KURTH, T.; PRESSMAN, A. Present Yourself! By MHC Class I
- and MHC Class II Molecules. Trends in Immunology, v. 35, n. 14, p. 1252–1260,
 2016.
- 338 GUO, P. et al. ICAM-1 as a molecular target for triple negative breast cancer.
- 339 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America,
- 340 v. 111, n. 41, p. 14710–14715, 2014.
- HARJUNPÄÄ, H. et al. Cell adhesion molecules and their roles and regulation in the
- immune and tumor microenvironment. Frontiers in Immunology, v. 10, n. 1078, 2019.
- 343 HEGDE, P. S.; CHEN, D. S. Top 10 Challenges in Cancer Immunotherapy. Immunity,
- 344 v. 52, n. 1, p. 17–35, 2020.
- 345 HIRAOKA, N. et al. CXCL17 and ICAM2 are associated with a potential anti-tumor
- immune response in early intraepithelial stages of human pancreatic carcinogenesis.
- **Gastroenterology**, v. 140, n. 1, p. 310- 321.e4, 2011.
- 348 HSU, F. S.; SU, C. H.; HUANG, K. H. A Comprehensive Review of US FDA-
- 349 Approved Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors in Urothelial Carcinoma. Journal of
- **Immunology Research**, v. 2017, 2017.
- HUMAR, M. et al. Adaptive Resistance to Immunotherapy Directed Against p53 Can
- be Overcome by Global Expression of Tumor-Antigens in Dendritic Cells. Frontiers in
- **oncology**, v. 4, n. October, p. 270, jan. 2014.
- 354 INFILTRATING, T.-T. C. et al. Influence of Tumor Environment on the Induction of
- 355 CD4. Lung, v. 177, n. 2, p. 2–10, 2006.
- 356 INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE CÂNCER; (INCA), C. DE P. E V. (CONPREV).

- Fisiopatologia do câncer. In: Ações de enfermagem para o controle do câncer: uma
 proposta de integração ensino-serviço. p. 51.
- INSTITUTO NACIONAL DO CÂNCER. Estimativa Incidência de Câncer no Brasil
 Biênio 2018-2019. v. 1
- 361 JANARDHAN, S. V; MARKS, R.; GAJEWSKI, T. F. Primary murine CD4+ T cells
- 362 fail to acquire the ability to produce effector cytokines when active Ras is present
- during Th1/Th2 differentiation. **PloS one**, v. 9, n. 11, p. e112831, jan. 2014.
- 364 JOFFRE, O. P. et al. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nature Reviews
- **Immunology**, v. 12, n. 8, p. 557–569, 2012a.
- 366 JOFFRE, O. P. et al. Cross-presentation by dendritic cells. Nature reviews.
- **Immunology**, v. 12, n. 8, p. 557–69, ago. 2012b.
- 368 JORGOVANOVIC, D. et al. Roles of IFN-yin tumor progression and regression: A
- 369 review. **Biomarker Research**, v. 8, n. 1, p. 1–16, 2020.
- 370 KAPPELMAYER, J.; NAGY, B. The interaction of selectins and PSGL-1 as a key
- 371 component in thrombus formation and cancer progression. **BioMed Research**
- **International**, v. 2017, 2017.
- KAUFMAN, H. L. et al. The promise of Immuno-oncology: Implications for defining
 the value of cancer treatment. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer, v. 7, n. 1, p.
 1–11, 2019.
- 375 I-II, 2019.
- KHAMAR, B. Active Immunotherapy in cancer Current Status. Novel Approaches
 in Cancer Study, v. 1, n. 3, 28 mar. 2018.
- KIM, B. et al. NDRG2 expression decreases tumor-induced osteoclast differentiation by
 down-regulating ICAM1 in breast cancer cells. Biomolecules and Therapeutics, v. 24,
 n. 1, p. 9–18, 2016.
- 381 KIM, S. H. et al. Prognostic impact of CD8 and programmed death-ligand 1 expression
- in patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer. **British Journal of Cancer**, v.
- 383 120, n. 5, p. 547–554, 2019.
- 384 KNIGHT, A. Systematic reviews of animal experiments demonstrate poor human
- clinical and toxicological utility. ATLA: Alternatives to Laboratory Animals, v. 35,

- 386 n. 6, p. 641–659, 2007.
- 387 KNOCHELMANN, H. M. et al. When worlds collide: Th17 and Treg cells in cancer
- and autoimmunity. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, v. 15, n. 5, p. 458–469,
 2018.
- 390 KOKATE, R. A Systematic Overview of Cancer Immunotherapy: An Emerging
- **391** Therapy. **Pharmacy & Pharmacology International Journal**, v. 5, n. 2, p. 1–6, 2017.
- 392 KOURY, J. et al. Immunotherapies: Exploiting the immune system for cancer
- treatment. Journal of Immunology Research, v. 2018, 2018.
- 394 KRAUSE, C. D. et al. Modulation of the activation of Stat1 by the interferon-gamma
- 395 receptor complex. **Cell research**, v. 16, n. 1, p. 113–23, jan. 2006.
- 396 KUMAR, C. et al. Immune modulation by dendritic-cell-based cancer vaccines.
- **Journal of Biosciences**, v. 42, n. 1, p. 161–173, 2017.
- 398 LANDSKRON, G. et al. Chronic inflammation and cytokines in the tumor
- 399 microenvironment. Journal of Immunology Research, v. 2014, 2014.
- 400 LAZAREVIC, V. et al. T-bet represses T(H)17 differentiation by preventing Runx1-
- 401 mediated activation of the gene encoding RORγt. Nature immunology, v. 12, n. 1, p.
 402 96–104, jan. 2011.
- LEE, J. Y. et al. Structural basis of checkpoint blockade by monoclonal antibodies in
 cancer immunotherapy. Nature Communications, v. 7, p. 1–10, 2016.
- 405 LEE, K. M. et al. The CD49d +/high subpopulation from isolated human breast sarcoma
- 406 spheres possesses tumor-initiating ability. International Journal of Oncology, v. 40, n.
- 407 3, p. 665–672, 2012.
- 408 LEE, M. H. et al. Interleukin 17 and peripheral IL-17-Expressing T cells are negatively
- 409 correlated with the overall survival of head and neck cancer patients. **Oncotarget**, v. 9,
- 410 n. 11, p. 9825–9837, 2018.
- 411 LIAO, D. et al. Targeted therapeutic remodeling of the tumor microenvironment
- 412 improves an HER-2 DNA vaccine and prevents recurrence in a murine breast cancer
- 413 model. **Cancer research**, v. 71, n. 17, p. 5688–96, 1 set. 2011.
- 414 LIN, Y. C. et al. The immunomodulatory effects of TNF-α inhibitors on human Th17

- 415 cells via RORγt histone acetylation. **Oncotarget**, v. 8, n. 5, p. 7559–7571, 2017a.
- 416 LIN, Y. C. et al. The immunomodulatory effects of TNF-α inhibitors on human Th17
- 417 cells via RORγt histone acetylation. **Oncotarget**, v. 8, n. 5, p. 7559–7571, 2017b.
- 418 LUCKHEERAM, R. V. et al. CD4 +T cells: Differentiation and functionsClinical
- 419 **and Developmental Immunology**, 2012.
- 420 MANGAN, P. R. et al. Transforming growth factor-beta induces development of the
- 421 T(H)17 lineage. Nature, v. 441, n. 7090, p. 231–4, 11 maio 2006.
- 422 MCCARTHY, E. F. The toxins of William B. Coley and the treatment of bone and soft-
- tissue sarcomas. **The Iowa orthopaedic journal**, v. 26, p. 154–158, 2006.
- 424 MCDONNELL, A. M.; ROBINSON, B. W. S.; CURRIE, A. J. Tumor antigen cross-
- 425 presentation and the dendritic cell: Where it all begins? Clinical and
- 426 **Developmental Immunology**, 2010.
- 427 MESSERSCHMIDT, J. L.; PRENDERGAST, G. C.; MESSERSCHMIDT, G. L. How
- 428 Cancers Escape Immune Destruction and Mechanisms of Action for the New
- 429 Significantly Active Immune Therapies: Helping Nonimmunologists Decipher Recent
- 430 Advances. **The Oncologist**, v. 21, n. 2, p. 233–243, 2016.
- 431 MINISTÉRIO DA SAÚDE INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE CÂNCER (INCA). ABC
- 432 **DO CÂNCER**. Rio de JAneiro: v. 81
- 433 MONDINO, A.; KHORUTS, A.; JENKINS, M. K. The anatomy of T-cell activation
- 434 and tolerance. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States
- **435** of America, v. 93, n. 6, p. 2245–2252, 1996.
- 436 MORI, H. et al. T-bet+ lymphocytes infiltration as an independent better prognostic
- 437 indicator for triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, v.
- 438 176, n. 3, p. 569–577, 2019.
- 439 NAM, J. S. et al. Transforming growth factor β subverts the immune system into
- directly promoting tumor growth through interleukin-17. Cancer Research, v. 68, n.
- 441 10, p. 3915–3923, 2008.
- 442 Zaidi N, Quezada SA, Kuroiwa JMY, Zhang L, Jaffee EM, Steinman RM, Wang B.
- 443 Anti-CTLA-4 synergizes with dendritic cell-targeted vaccine to promote IL-3-

- 444 dependent CD4⁺ effector T cell infiltration into murine pancreatic tumors. **Ann N Y**
- 445 Acad Sci. 2019 Jun;1445(1):62-73. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14049. Epub 2019 Apr 4. PMID:
 446 30945313; PMCID: PMC6557673. .
- 447 O'DONNELL, J. S.; TENG, M. W. L.; SMYTH, M. J. Cancer immunoediting and
- resistance to T cell-based immunotherapy. Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology, v. 16,
 n. 3, p. 151–167, 2019.
- 450 OH, S.; HWANG, E. S. The role of protein modifications of T-bet in cytokine
- 451 production and differentiation of T helper cells. **Journal of immunology research**, v.
- 452 2014, n. Figure 1, p. 589672, jan. 2014.
- 453 OHUE, Y.; NISHIKAWA, H. Regulatory T (Treg) cells in cancer: Can Treg cells be a
- 454 new therapeutic target? **Cancer Science**, v. 110, n. 7, p. 2080–2089, 2019.
- 455 OKAMURA, M. et al. Overexpression of GATA-3 in T cells accelerates dextran sulfate
- 456 sodium-induced colitis. Experimental animals, v. 63, n. 2, p. 133–40, 2014.
- 457 OSHI, M. et al. CD8 T cell score as a prognostic biomarker for triple negative breast
- 458 cancer. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, v. 21, n. 18, p. 1–16, 2020.
- 459 OZVEREL, C. S.; KARABOZ, İ.; NALBANTSOY, A. Novel treatment strategies in
- 460 cancer immunotherapy. **Türk Biyoloji Dergisi**, v. 30, n. 2, p. 36–51, 2018.
- 461 PALUCKA, K.; BANCHEREAU, J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nature
- 462 **reviews. Cancer**, v. 12, n. 4, p. 265–77, abr. 2012.
- 463 PERICA, K. et al. Adoptive T Cell Immunotherapy For Cancer. Rambam Maimonides
 464 Medical Journal, v. 6, n. 1, p. 4, 2015.
- 465 Lugo-Villarino G, Maldonado-Lopez R, Possemato R, Penaranda C, Glimcher LH. T-
- 466 bet is required for optimal production of IFN-gamma and antigen-specific T cell
- 467 activation by dendritic cells. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.** 2003 Jun 24;100(13):7749-54.
- doi: 10.1073/pnas.1332767100. Epub 2003 Jun 11. PMID: 12802010; PMCID:
- 469 PMC164659.
- 470 QIAN, J. et al. Plasticity of the murine spleen T-cell cholinergic receptors and their role
- in in vitro differentiation of naïve CD4 T cells toward the Th1, Th2 and Th17 lineages.
- 472 Genes and immunity, v. 12, n. 3, p. 222–30, abr. 2011.

- 473 REINA, M.; ESPEL, E. Role of LFA-1 and ICAM-1 in cancer. Cancers, v. 9, n. 11, p.
 474 1–14, 2017.
- 475 RIBATTI, D. The concept of immune surveillance against tumors. The first theories.
- 476 **Oncotarget**, v. 8, n. 4, p. 7175–7180, 2017.
- 477 RILEY, R. S. et al. Delivery technologies for cancer immunotherapy. Nature Reviews
- 478 **Drug Discovery**, v. 18, n. 3, p. 175–196, 2019.
- 479 RODRIGUES, C. M. et al. The role of T lymphocytes in cancer patients undergoing
- 480 immunotherapy with autologous dendritic cells. Clinical Medicine Insights:
- 481 **Oncology**, v. 5, n. May 2014, p. 107–115, 2011.
- 482 ROLAND, C. L. et al. ICAM-1 expression determines malignant potential of cancer.
- 483 Surgery, v. 141, n. 6, p. 705–707, 2007.
- 484 SABET-BAKTACH, M. et al. Double deficiency for RORγt and T-bet drives Th2-
- 485 mediated allograft rejection in mice. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950),
- 486 v. 191, n. 8, p. 4440–6, 2013a.
- 487 SABET-BAKTACH, M. et al. Double deficiency for RORγt and T-bet drives Th2-
- 488 mediated allograft rejection in mice. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950),
- 489 v. 191, n. 8, p. 4440–6, 15 out. 2013b.
- 490 SANTONI, G. et al. High CTLA-4 expression correlates with poor prognosis in
- 491 thymoma patients. **Oncotarget**, v. 9, n. 24, p. 16665–16677, 2018.
- 492 SASAKI, Y. et al. Identification and characterization of the intercellular adhesion
- 493 molecule-2 gene as a novel p53 target. **Oncotarget**, v. 7, n. 38, p. 61426–61437, 2016.
- 494 SCHAUE, D.; KACHIKWU, E. L.; MCBRIDE, W. H. Cytokines in Radiobiological
- 495 Responses: A Review. **Radiation Research**, v. 178, n. 6, p. 505–523, 2012.
- 496 SCHRÖDER, C. et al. Prognostic value of intercellular adhesion molecule (ICAM)-1
- 497 expression in breast cancer. Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology, v.
- 498 137, n. 8, p. 1193–1201, 2011.
- 499 SCKISEL, G. D. et al. Late administration of murine CTLA-4 blockade prolongs CD8-
- 500 mediated anti-tumor effects following stimulatory cancer immunotherapy. Cancer
- 501 **Immunology, Immunotherapy**, v. 64, n. 12, p. 1541–1552, 2015.

- 502 SHIBUYA, T. Y. et al. Clinical significance of poor CD3 response in head and neck
- 503 cancer. **Clinical Cancer Research**, v. 8, n. 3, p. 745–751, 2002.
- 504 SHIMIZU, S. et al. Tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T-cell density is an independent
- 505 prognostic marker for oral squamous cell carcinoma. **Cancer Medicine**, v. 8, n. 1, p.
- 506 80–93, 2019.
- 507 SÖKELAND, G.; SCHUMACHER, U. The functional role of integrins during intra-
- and extravasation within the metastatic cascade. **Molecular Cancer**, v. 18, n. 1, p. 1–
- 509 19, 2019.
- 510 SOTO, M. S. et al. Disruption of tumour-host communication by downregulation of
- 511 LFA-1 reduces COX-2 and e-NOS expression and inhibits brain metastasis growth.
- 512 **Oncotarget**, v. 7, n. 32, p. 52375–52391, 2016.
- 513 STEINMAN, R. M.; COHN, Z. A. Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral
- 514 lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. The Journal
- **of experimental medicine**, v. 137, n. 5, p. 1142–62, 1973.
- 516 SWANN, J. B.; SMYTH, M. J. Review series Immune surveillance of tumors. The
- **Journal of Clinical Investigation**, v. 117, n. 5, p. 1137–1146, 2007.
- 518 Szabo SJ, Kim ST, Costa GL, Zhang X, Fathman CG, Glimcher LH. A novel
- transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. Cell. 2000 Mar
- 520 17;100(6):655-69. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80702-3. PMID: 10761931.
- 521 TENG, M. W. L. et al. From mice to humans : developments in cancer immunoediting
- 522 Find the latest version : From mice to humans : developments in cancer immunoediting.
- **523 The Journal of Clinical Investigation**, v. 125, n. 9, p. 3338–3346, 2015.
- 524 THICHANPIANG, P. et al. TNF-α-induced ICAM-1 expression and monocyte
- adhesion in human RPE cells is mediated in part through autocrine VEGF stimulation.
- 526 Molecular Vision, v. 20, n. February, p. 781–789, 2014.
- 527 TIAN, C. T. et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-infiltrating CD8+ or CD3+ T
- 528 lymphocytes and interleukin-2 expression in radically resected non-small cell lung
- 529 cancer. Chinese Medical Journal, v. 128, n. 1, p. 105–110, 2015.
- 530 TRINCHIERI, G. Cancer Immunity: Lessons from Infectious Diseases. Journal of
- 531 Infectious Diseases, v. 212, n. Suppl 1, p. S67–S73, 2015.

- WAN, Y. Y. GATA3: a master of many trades in immune regulation. Trends in
 immunology, v. 35, n. 6, p. 233–42, jun. 2014.
- 534 WANG, S. et al. Effect of an anti-cd54 (ICAM-1) monoclonal antibody (UV3) on the
- 535 growth of human uveal melanoma cells transplanted heterotopically and orthotopically
- in SCID mice. International Journal of Cancer, v. 118, n. 4, p. 932–941, 2006.
- 537 WARD-HARTSTONGE, K. A.; KEMP, R. A. Regulatory T-cell heterogeneity and the
- cancer immune response. **Clinical & Translational Immunology**, v. 6, n. 9, p. e154,
- 539 2017.
- 540 WIRSDÖRFER, F.; DE LEVE, S.; JENDROSSEK, V. Combining radiotherapy and
- 541 immunotherapy in lung cancer: Can we expect limitations due to altered normal tissue
- toxicity? **International Journal of Molecular Sciences**, v. 20, n. 1, p. 1–21, 2019.
- 543 WU, L. et al. Alteration of Th17 and Treg cells in patients with unexplained recurrent
- spontaneous abortion before and after lymphocyte immunization therapy. **Reproductive**
- **biology and endocrinology : RB&E**, v. 12, p. 74, jan. 2014.
- 546 YLIKOSKI, E. et al. IL-12 up-regulates T-bet independently of IFN-γ in human CD4+
- 547 T cells. **European Journal of Immunology**, v. 35, n. 11, p. 3297–3306, 2005.
- 548 YOON, K. J. et al. ICAM-2 expression mediates a membrane-actin link, confers a
- 549 nonmetastatic phenotype and reflects favorable tumor stage or histology in
- 550 neuroblastoma. **PLoS ONE**, v. 3, n. 11, 2008.
- 551 YOON, K. J.; MILLER, A. L.; KREITZBURG, K. M. The role of ICAM-2 in
- neuroblastoma. **Oncoscience**, v. 2, n. 11, p. 915–916, 2015.
- 553 ZHANG, S. et al. Dendritic cells transfected with interleukin-12 and pulsed with tumor
- extract inhibit growth of murine prostatic carcinoma in vivo. The Prostate, v. 55, n. 4,
- 555 p. 292–8, 1 jun. 2003.
- 556 ZHANG, Y.; ZHANG, Z. The history and advances in cancer immunotherapy:
- 557 understanding the characteristics of tumor-infiltrating immune cells and their
- therapeutic implications. Cellular and Molecular Immunology, v. 8, n. July, p. 807–
- **559** 821, 2020.
- 560 ZHAO, Y. et al. Evolving Roles for Targeting CTLA-4 in Cancer Immunotherapy.
- 561 **Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry**, v. 47, n. 2, p. 721–734, 2018.

- ZHENG, S. G. Regulatory T cells vs Th17 : differentiation of Th17 versus Treg , are the
 mutually exclusive ? Am J Clin Exp Immunol 2013;2(1):94-106.
- 564 Zheng W, Flavell RA. The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for
- 565 Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. **Cell.** 1997 May 16;89(4):587-96. doi:
- 566 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80240-8. PMID: 9160750.
- 567 ZHENG, Y. et al. TNF α promotes th17 cell differentiation through il-6 and il-1 β
- produced by monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis. Journal of Immunology Research, v.
- 569 2014, 2014.
- 570 ZHU, J.; YAMANE, H.; PAUL, W. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations.
- 571 Annu Rev Immunol., v. 28, n. 1, p. 445–489, 2010.
- 572 ZITVOGEL, L. et al. Microbiome and Anticancer ImmunosurveillanceCellElsevier
- 573 Inc., , 2016. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.001
- 574
- 575
- 576
- 577
- 578

579 9. ANEXO 1 – CEUA (certificado protocolo 402)



CERTIFICADO

Certificamos que a proposta intitulada "Avaliação cinética da influência da vacina de células dendriticas no infiltrado tumoral e de linfonodos em camundongos fêmeas de linhagem Balb/C tumor induzidos por linhagem de células 4T1", registrada com o nº 402, sob a responsabilidade de Márcia Antoniazi Michelin – que envolve a produção, manutenção e/ou utilização de animais pertencentes ao filo Chordata, subfilo Vertebrata (exceto o homem), para fins de pesquisa científica (ou ensino) – encontra-se de acordo com os preceitos da Lei nº 11.794 de 8 de outubro de 2008, do Decreto nº 6.899, de 15 de julho de 2009, e com as normas editadas pelo Conselho Nacional de Controle e Experimentação Animal (CONCEA), e foi aprovada pela Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais (CEUA) da Universidade Federal do Triângulo Mineiro, em reunião de 03/02/2017.

Finalidade	() Ensino (x) Pesquisa Científica
Vigência da autorização	03/02/2017 à 01/02/2021
Espécie/Linhagem/Raça	Camundongos isogênicos Balb/c
Nº de animais	88
Peso/idade	20-30 gramas / 8 semanas
Gênero	Fêmeas
Origem	Biotério do IPON - UFTM

Prof^a. Dr^a. Selma Sanches Dovichi Coordenadora substituta da CEUA

584 10. ANEXO 2 – Comprovante Submissão Artigo 1

	 Immunotherapy - Account Created in ScholarOne Manuscripts 	Yahoo/Entrada 🔺	
ſ	Ryan Gilroy <onbehalfof@manuscriptcentral.com> Para: saulo.fernando@yahoo.com.br</onbehalfof@manuscriptcentral.com>	qui., 22 de abr. às 11:26 🔺	
	22-Apr-2021		
	Dear Prof. Silva:		
	A manuscript titled ICAM2 could be a marker of good prognosis in the dendritic cell immunotherapy (IM submitted by Prof. Saulo Silva to Immunotherapy.	IT-2021-0097) has been	
	You are listed as a co-author for this manuscript. The online peer-review system, ScholarOne Manuscri user account for you. Your USER ID and PASSWORD for your account is as follows:	ipts, automatically creates a	
	Site URL: <u>https://mc04.manuscriptcentral.com/fm-imt</u> USER ID: <u>saulo.f</u> PASSWORD: For security reasons your password is not contained in this email. To set your password	click the link below.	
	You can use the above USER ID and PASSWORD (once set) to log in to the site and check the status authored/co-authored. Please log in to https://mc04.manuscriptcentral.com/fm-imt to update your acco account tab at the top right.	of papers you have unt information via the edit	
	Thank you for your participation.		
	Sincerely, Immunotherapy Editorial Office Log in to Remove This Account		
585 I			
586			
587			
588			
589			
590			
591			
592			
593			
594			
595			
596			
597			
598			
599			

600 11. ANEXO 3 – Comprovante de submissão e aceite do artigo 2 referente a tese de

601 doutorado

602

Q	iearch mail	0	÷	:	
÷	D 0 1 0 0 0 1 D :	8 of 158 < >	•	83	
	Resultado da Avaliação. Interx	\$	• 2		
	Brazilian Journal of Development <=ditor.bjd@brazilianjournals.com.br> <u>Unsubscribe</u> to me, marcia.midhelin, eddiemuta =	Fri, Jun 18, 9:21 AM (1 day ago) 🙀 4		0	
	🛱 Portuguese + > English + Translate message	Turn off for: Portuge	ese x		
	Prezado(s) autor(es), tudo bem? Apôs anâlise pelos pareceristas externos, foi tomada uma decisão sobre o artigo submetido à revista Brazilian Journal of Development,				
	ANÁLISE DINÂMICA DA RESPOSTA IMUNOLÓGICA DE CAMUNDONGOS BALB∕e COM CÀNCER DE MAMA EXPERIMENTAL SUBMETIDO A IMUNOTERAPIA DE CÉLULAS DENDRÍTICAS				
	A decisão é: Aceitar.				
	Estamos à disposição caso tenha dúvidas, por email ou pelo telefone/WhatsApp: (41) 3534-7401.				
	Abraços. Prof. Dr. Edilson Antonio Catanan				
	Editor Chefe				
	Brazilian Journal of Development.				
				>	

603